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PREFACE.

Havine been authorized by the Punjab Govern-
ment to produce a new edition of the Ganj-i-Pakhtu
and Tarikh-i-Mahmud-i-Ghaznavi, the text-books
_ for the Lower and Higher Standard Examinations
in Pushtu, I have produced translations of each in
the hope that a literal translation ata low price will
be of use to students of the language.

Asthetranslation adheres to the text as literally
as possible, it is necessarily clumsy in style, and in
order not to confuse the translation with notes only
such words have been interpolated as are required
to render the sense intelligible. These are in
brackets. The pages noted in the margin refer to
the text, both of the Kalid-i-Afghani and of my
edition of Ganj-i-Pakhtu and Tarikh-i-Sultan Mah-
mud-i-Ghaznavi.

Luno: Korar, G. ROOS-KEPPEL,
KuyYBER :
June 1901. CAPTAIN,
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The History of Sultan Mahmud of Ghazai.

THE collectors of histories have, with auspicious pens,

thus written on the pages of their own works, that Sultan’

Mahmud of Ghazni was a King who had the fcrtune to be
fortunate (both) in (matters of) religion and of (this world),
and the fame of his justice and even-handedness had spread
on all sides. v

And in the work of religious war he had planted the

banners of Islam and had pulled up the roots of tyrants.

When he used to start for war, you would say, * This

must be a flood which flows equally over hill and dale ”; and .

when he used to seat himself upon (his) throne, a man would
think,  This must indeed be the sun whose light shines on
great and small (lit. the nobles and the common people).
Wisdom was hig, and power and good fortune:
On account of all these he was worthy of a crown and throne.

But in some books it has been seen that this King was
very avaricious, but (the accusation) regarding avarice
appears to be beyond (the limits of) justice, because to
subdue so many countries and to cause so many learned men
and famous (poets) to sit in (his) assembly cannot be success-
fully done without giving away wealth and without bestow-
ing riches,

And it is an evident fact that without (counting) fixed
allowances he used to give four lakhs of rupees (a year) 6>
deserving people, and do many kindnesses to them and con-
fer advantages on everyone,

Page 2,
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Yes! if these two things are the cause of the King
(haviog a) bad name, it may be so. One, that he. hurt the
feelings of Firdosi the poet, the other, that towards the end
of his life he used to take money from (his) people (by
force.)

It is said that the King in outward appearance was nob
beautiful. One day he lovked in a mirror and bis face
appeared to him to be ugly, so he said to & minister (who
was there), “People say that gazing on the King's face
improves the sight, and my complextion is such that by
looking at it & man’s heart becomes sorrowful,”

The minister said to him, “ What necessity is there for
you to beautify your appearance; itis befititng that you should
make your habits beautiful so that everyone may love you.”

That saying pleased the King greatly, and he acted upon

it, and in good bubits he reached such a limit (of goodness)

that he surpassed all (othcr) Kings. The father of the Kiog
was the Amir Sabaktagio, and his mother was the daughter
of a noble of Zabalistan, for this reason he is (sometimes)
called “Zabali,” as Firdosi the poet has praised him, saying,

The Zabali Sultan Mahmud is such an ocean
That its shore no one has seen anywhere *

A peari from it did not come into my hand :
The ocean is good, but 1 complain of my fate.

On the night of the Ashura in the year of the Hegira
357 he was born, and Jirjani, bas written iu (his) book the
Minhaj-us-Saraj, that the good fortune of Sultan Mahmud
was equal to the good fortune of the Lord of the Faith of
Islam, and & moment before his birth the Amir Sabaktagin
saw in a dream that from their hearth a great tree sprang
up, 8o (great) that the whole world could find place beneath
its shadow. When he awoke from sleep, he was thinking
of its interpretation, when s:ddenly some one brought him
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the tidings saying, * Be you fortunate, a son-is born to you.”

The Amir Sabaktagin was very pleased, and on account of -
that auspicious dream he gave his son the name of Mahmud

(i.e., the Fortunate Oue), and became hopeful of (hxs attain-
ing) high rank and honour.

Then in a little time the 'plant of his good fortune

gave such a shade that many people sat under ite shade, as’

these couplets of Firdosi bear testimony to the fact.

In the reign of Mahmud the Ghazi, the ng

. The sheep and the wolf drink water in one place,
When a boy is first born of his mother
In his cradle he mentions the name of Mahmud.

' At that time, by order of the Amir Sabaktagin, he de-

stroyed the temple (lit. idol house) of the Hindus which was
"" on the baok of the river Sodra and made his fame (lib. good
fortune) equai to the fame of the Lord of the Faith (of
Islam).

And io the first year of his reign a mine of gold in the
form of a tree appeared from the ground in Seistan, -and
however much one might dig in it (nothing but) pure good
would come out of it, and it. was three yards round. After-
" wards in the time of Sultan Mas’ud that mine. was lost by
reason of an earthquake.

Again, when the Sultan was free from lns war against
" his brother, he set his face to Balkh ; and on account of this,
that the Governorship of Khorasan (whbich) was his by
right, bad been entrusted to (one) Baktozan, he seut a
messenger to Bokhara to Amir Mansur and explpined his
dissatisfaction tc him.

He gave answer, “I have given you the Goveruo}sbip
of Balkh and Tarmiz aod Herat, but Buaktizan is a well-
wishing man, and without reason to remove him and to
dismiss him from office is not proper. .

Page b.
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He (i.e., Sultan Mahmud) sent Ab-ul-Hassan of Jammu
with many presents to Bokhara, and said to Amir Mansur,
“[ hope that you will not foul the spring of friendship and
sincerity.with the earth and rubbish of indifference, and
that you will not forget the rights of I and of my father
which are iccumbent on you, that the thread of friendship
may not be torn (asunder) and the foundations of submission
may nod be undermind.”

When Ab-ul-Hassan of Jammu reached Bukhara, Amir
Mansur decided to make him a minister of his own, and he
gave no reply to the Sultan’s message. '

Sultan Mahmud started in the direction of MNishapur,
and when Baktozan ucderstood his object, he went in an-
other direction and sent a petition (relating the whole) of
his case tq Bokhara.

Amir Mansur was intoxicated with the pride and igno-
rance and vanity of youth. He collccted bhis force and
started for Khorasan and rested nowhere till (he reached)
Sarkhas. : Although the Sultan knew well that Amir
Mansur could not cope with him, yet he feared the reproach
and scandal of faithlessness, 8o he left Nishapur to him and
went to Murghab. '

It ‘hdppened that Baktozan, with the connivance of |
Faik, behaved treacherously ; he seized Amir Mansur and
pierced his eyes with a needle and blinded him, anil seated
on the throne his yonnger brother, whose name was Abd-ul-
Malik, and he himself feared the Sultan (and) fled to
Merv. ‘

The Sultan started after him and reached Merv.

Baktozan and Faik chose & ruinous course and gave
battle to the Sultan in the plain, bub victory was in the
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destiny of the Sultan, Faik took Abd-ul-Malik with him

and went to Bokhara, and Baktozan fled to Ni‘shapﬁr; and

some time after he again went to Bokhara to collect his
dispersed drmy. . ‘

It chanced that at this time Faik fell ill and. dxed .and
Ilak Khan went from Kashgar to Bokhara and slew. Abd-ul-
Malik with his dependants and exterminated them, and the
power of the dynasty of Saman, which bad existed for 'six
score years and eight, came to its end.

And Sultan Mahmud became engaged in the govern-
ment of Balkh and Khorasan. And when (the splendour of)
his reign was noised to the four quarters of the world, the
Caliph of Bagdad, who was known as Al-Kadir-Billah-Abbasi,
send a robe of honour of great value to the Spltan, such
robe of honour as no king had ever sent to another king.

“Then io the year 390 of the Hegira, in .the month of
Miana, he went from Balkh to Herat and from Herat to
Seistan, and subjected to his orders Hanif-ben-i-Ahmed,
the Governor of that place, then he reached Ghazni. And
about that time he started for Hindustan and there captured

a fow fortresses and then returned. In'such a way did he

spread the bedding of Justice on the spacious grouad that
- alove to him was born in the hearts of ali.

Aud when Ilak Khan with one blew cleared Mawar-ul-
* Nahr of the descendants of Saman, he sent a letter of victory

and conquesb to the Sultan and congratulated him on” (his '
accession to) the kiogdom of Khorasan. For this reason a

firm friendship was engendered between the two kings.
And Sultan Mahmud sent one Ab-ul-Taiab, whose name

was Sahal (who) was the son of Suleman Maluki, and (who)

was the Preacher of the Traditions of the Prophet, as an

Page 7,
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one of his princesses. And he sent: with him various de-
scriptions (of presents such as) sapphires and costly rubies,
and necklaces of pearls, and eggs of ambergris, and vessels of
gold and silver filled with scents and camphor, and other pre-
gents from Hindustan, plants of aloes, and watered swords,
and wat elephants caparisoned and equipped so that the
eyes of the spectators would become dizzled, and swift horses

" - -with golden saddles on thein.

When the Imam Ab-ul-Taiab reached the land of Tur-
kestan, the people of that country, who had mostly become
Musalmabs iu the time of Iluk Khan, showed bim much
respect and honour and politeness.

Aud he was detained at Orkand until Ilak Khan gave
permission for an audience. After this he brought into the
King's presence that pearl after which he had dived in the
sea of Turkestan, together with the costly goeds of that
country, with pure gold and silver, and with slave girls from
Kbita and the milk faced ones of Khotao, together with
ermiue and sables, tugether with other presents. Aftor thas
for along time friendship and affection increased between
the Sultan and Iluk Khan, until by reason of the evil eye of
the time and through the exertions of slanderers their friend-
ship and affection was changed into enmity and malice, as
will shortly be recounted, if it please God Almighty.

And Sultan Mabmud, on account of this that he had said
that “ whenever I am at leisure from the affairs of my king-
dom” I willspend most of my time in going to Hindustan and
wage a Holy War, determined in the month of the lesser 1d
in the year 391 of the Hegird, to svt out from Gbazni for
Hiodustan, and came to Peshawar with ten thousand troopers.
And Jaipal came and prepared to fight bim with twelve thou«

- sand mounted men, thirty thousand infantry, and three
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" hundred elephants, and joined battle with him on Monday,

.

v/

the 8th of the month of Hassan-HuSaam m ‘the year 392 of '

the Hegira. ,

Sultan Mahmud behaved bravely and vxcbory fell to lnxn,
80 he become famous as a Ghazi; and he captured Jaipal
with fifteen men, who were some his sons and some his
relations, and he Kkilled five thousand Hindus and brought
back much plunder. Aud he took from bhe necks of t,hose
prisoners sixteen necklaces, and those necklaces are calle
in the Hindi language ‘* Mula,”’ and people fixed the price
of each necklace at one lac and eighty thousand gold

mohurs,

Then the King went, from Pesha\v;'ar to Pixapdtﬂ and
brought that country (also) under bis rule.
And ss seou as it was spring he pardoned Jalpaland tlle
other prisoners, after they had agreed to pay him tribute, and
released them from imprisonment. And he killed mauy

‘powerful Pathans, and made some his servants and took them
‘with him to Ghazoi.

The custom of the Hindus is auny raja who is tmce,
defeated by the Musalmans, or taken prisoner, is not again fit

“to rule, and his sin cannot be expiated without fire. So fqr.
‘this reason Jaipal made his son, whose name was Avandpal,

king and threw himself into a fire apd was burut. And

"Sultan Mahmud in the month of Hassan-Hussain, in the year

393 of the Hegira, went agaiun to Seistan and that time he
brought Hanif to Ghazui.

Then again a desjire for Hmdustan took bu'bh in hls
heart. In the year 395 of the Hegira he started in the

direction of the city named Bhatia, and when he had

' traversed the bouudaries of Multan he camped there. And

ia that city there was so great a fort that the bird vulture

Pﬁgﬂ 10,
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oould not reach its summit, and round it there was such a
moat that the sight of the strongest sighted could not reach
its bottom. The name of the raja of that place was Baji
Rao, and because of his many elephants and troops he was
80 ip.toixd that neither did he care for the pobles' of Amir
quaklagin, vor did he aubmit to Jaipal.

When Sultan Mahmud in order to crusk him led his

| fn'my out, he assembled his troops and drew it up in lines

‘parallel to the army of Islam. The two armies fought
iogetﬁer for three days, bur the Musulmans appeared to the
King to weaken ; 80 on the fourch day he gave an order,
“To-day will be the royal Lattle, let old and ‘ygting,
servants and followers all equip themselves, so that they
may be present on the field (cf battle) to fight for Faith,”

And when Rajs Baji Rao learnt this plan, he went to

his idol house and prostrated himself before the idols and.

begged help from them, and with noise and coercion he drove
(all) the Hindus out of the city, and they placed themselves
on the field of battle. ‘

Then the nobles of Islam struck their hands to their
swords and spears and all together charged the iufidels.
From dawn till sunset they fonght together, and on every side

mounds of dead were standing and streams of blood were .

flawing, but no sign of weakness was visible on either side.
The Sultan then raised his hands to the presence of

God, and he brought the holy soul of the Prophet, on

whom be peace, as his intercessor and himself charged into

. the midst of the (enemy’s) army. He broke the infidel

host and besieged Baji Rao and gave ‘ordersto fill up the

moat, o
Whea he bad nearly filled up the moat with stones,

olods of earth, thornbushes, and shrubs, Baji Rao was

ramn S
.
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confounded.” He iefﬁv his army .ip the fight and togeﬁhgr
with a few special men came down from the fort and “fled
to a jungle among the forests on tbe banks of the Iudus.

When the Sultan heard of (.Ins he sent a fulca of brave
soldicrs after him and they surrounded him in that very
jungle. When Baji Rao could find no way of escape he
quickly drew a dagger from his belt aud struck it with
great fury into his breast. Tne Ghazis came up with hiwm,
shey cut oft his head and went off with iv to the Sultan,
and with their unsparing swords t.hey struck to the ground

the heads of the companious of Baji Rao and made a beavy;

slaughter.

Eighty elephants and slaves aud wuch plunder aud
property came iuto their hauds, and that city together with
the surrounding country ackuowledged the rulc of the
Sultan, and he with victory aud conguest returned to Ghazui.

Then again ian the year 396 of the ‘Hegira the Sultan
decided to subdue Mualtan, aud he gave orders to the leaders
of the army saying, “Sheikh Hamid Lodi, Guvernor of
Multan, used to be loyal to Amir Sabuktugin and would not
free himself from his service, but after him. his grandson,

- Ab-ul-Fateh, whose name was Daud, the son of Nusir, the"
son of Sheikh Hamid, and who was a heretic, at first behav- .’

ed himself according to the habit of his father and graund-
father aad counted himself among the servants of the Sultan,
but when the Sultan’s army was occupied at Bhatia bad
news was heard of him and improper deeds were commenced
to be done by him.”

The King that year, by reason of some design (pretend-
ed to) take no notice and said uuthing, bub ucxb year he
determined to take his revenge. -

Page 12,
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It sppears from the writings of the Zain-ul-Akhbar that
in order that he should misunderstand (his intention), he
lefo that road and went by auvother road. And Anandpal,
son of Juipal, was stationed on the road to stop the passage
of the King's army, but he was crushed (and) fled to
Cashmere. And it is said in the history of Alfi that at the
timo when Ab-ul-Fateh learnt of the” coming of the Sultan
he sent a man to Anandpal and asked him for help.

Anandpal (in order) to assist Ab.ul-Fateh, went from
Lahore to Peshawar and sent a few (of his) nobles on ahead
to obstruct the road of the Sultan, in order that the Sultan
should be prevented from marching to Multan,

The King in great wrath gave orders to his army to
destroy the cities of Anandpal. The army attacked simul-
taneously aud threw into coufusion the nubles of Anandpal
in Peshawar. Aund when Aunanpal learut this he fled, and
the‘army of the Sultan was still thus pursning him when he
reaehed the limits of Sodra ou the banks of the Chenab,
sud then he got frightened (and) turned his face to Cash-
mere. The Sultan did not go after him (buv) started for
Multan for his own affairs.

When Ab-ul-Fateh saw that the rajas of India could do

nothing, he shut himself (und his followers) up in a fort -

and wade(lir. displayed) entreaties and excuses, and pro-
mised that year by year he would send twenty thousand gold
mohurs for (the King’s) service und would promulgate the
laws of tke Sheriat aud renounce the religion of the heretics.
The Sultun besieged Multan for some days, but on this peacs
he gave him a binding promise and pardoned the Governor
of Multan. Again, when he was (occupied) in preparations
for hig return, it chanced that envoys from Arsalun Jazib,
who was Goveruor of Herat, reuched bim and informed the

Yy
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Sultan of the (advance of the) army of Tlak Khan, -The
Sultan with all haste entrusted the affairs of Bhatinda to.
Sakpal, who was the son of a (certain) raja of Hindustan, and
at the hands of Abu Ali Samjuri had become a Musalman,
and was also named Absar, aud he (hiwself) weut to Ghazni.

And the account of the case of Ilak Khan was thus : For
a lobg time the Sultan aud Ilak Khan were as friendly us

the ties of father-in-law and s'n-in-law (befitted) to such an
extenb as has Alrendy been mentioned, until, on account of
the mischief of iniriguers and by reason of the efforts of
slanderers that friendship was changed iuto enmity.

And when the Sultan started towards Multan and there
were no warriors (lit. wrestlers) lefs iu the plains of Khorasan,
Ilak Khan saw his opportunity (lit. fouud leisure) and deter-
wived to subdue that country. He sent Siyawashtagin,
who was the commauder of his army, with a great army to
Khorasan, and he appointed Jafartagin as Governor in the
capital of Balkh. Arsalan Jazib, Governor of Herat, learnt
of this occurrence and went from Herat to Ghazai in order
to protect the throne of tho kingdom And a party of the
chiefs of Khorasan, by reason of the long absence of the Sul-
tau, joined Ilak Khan. When the Sultan reached Ghazni, he

*.collected an army like the people of the Day ofResurreétion,
" and marched to Balkh, and when Jafartagin learnt of the
coming of the Sultan, he fled from Balkh to Tirmiz. o

And Arsilan Jazib, by the order of the Sulmml, wen
from Herat iu pursnit of Siyawashtagin and started towards
Mawar-ul-Nahr.

Ilak Khan asked help from Kdar Khan, King of Chiua,
(and) Kadar Khao with 5,000 men started to the assistance
of Ilak Khau, (and) Ilak Khan with the help of Kadar Khan
crossed the River Juinhun, aud when (ouly) twelve kos of
road remained to Balkh the army of the Sultan fuced them.

Page ..
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 The Sultan himself artanged the lines of his army "He'

entrusted ‘the centre to his younger brother Amir Nasir-ud-

din, Governor of Jarjan and Abu Nasr Fariun and Abdulla’

Tai. The right wing he entrusted.to Altun ‘Tash Hajib, and.

appoioted Arsalan Jazib to the (command of the) left wing
with other Pathan uvobles.

And with five hundred elephanbs, hka mounlains, he\

made a ctbadel in front of his line. And on the other side,
Ifak Khan lumself stood in the cent.re of his army ; and
appomted Kadar Khan to the ngbt. wing and st.stloned
Jafartagio on his lefs Then both armies, like two rivers of
mercury, faced ove another, and by the noise of (the trampl-
ing of) their horses made the af)ode of the earth quake ; and
with the dust of the, hoofs of their horses they made the
plain of the sLy dark “aud the fire of struggle -and bat tle
they kiudled with the blast of the (their) abt.acks.

Ou the other side Ilak Khan himself became engnged v

in the battle, and on bhls the Sultan dlsmounted from his

horse and bowed his head in prosbratxon "before the Pure -

God and raised the hands of prayers and_ent.real.y and placed
reliance on the favour of the most kind God, and he mounted
a fierce elephant and led a charge against the army of Tlak

Khan. It happened that the Sultan’s elephant seized “the -

standard bearer of Ilak Khan with his trunk and dashed -

him on the ground ; after that he came to the lines of the

Turks and dest.rdyed_ many of them. When the Ghazis saw

that the Sultan himself had entered the field of battle, then -

involuntarily they rushed forward together and drew their
swords and killed many Turks in that moment. Kadar

Khan, pauvic-stricken, hopeless of life,. flcd by .tricke and

straba’gem from the battle, and when he had crossed the
waters of the Jaihun, he rested nowhere until he reached his
own country; and pever again had a thought of Khotasan:

v
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In the history of Yamani it is written that the Sultan

afser the flight of 1lak Khan pursued the broken army, but.

it was winter there (and) the culd was limitless (aud) no one
had strength (to endure it), Most of the ndbles desired thab
they should not pursue the routed army, bub as the Sultan
was himself exerting himself, they had, whether they 'liked
if or not, to go two marches after them. Oa the third night
they camped in A desert. The whole night snow fcll and the
cold showed its severity beyond limit, aud for the Sultan
they pitched a big tent aud placed mavy brasiers in'it (and)
made the tent so warm that.most of the peaple (iu i) were
ready to throw off th2ir clothes on accoun’ of the heat..

~ At that moment Wulchak came in at the door of the
tent. The Sultan said to him ns a joke, “‘Go, Wulchak, and
sny to the Cold outside why do you die, aud why uwing to
extreme cold are you at the poiut of death ; ,' we here are
ready indeed to take off onr clothes on accounh “of the
heat.” S S
Wulchak instaatly Went. out and, came in again at once
and said, “ I gave the King's gracious message to the Cold,
aud he says although: my haud caonot reach the Sultan
and the Sultau’s nobles, yet I will soserve his other servants
that to-morrow the Sultan and his nobles and chiefs will
(have to) attend to their horses themselves, and you will
see uo failure in "that service of mine.” The Sultau, - al-

though outyvardly he treated these words, as a jest, yet in,

his heart he repented him of his design aud; decided to

return, . “
" It chanced thah that very night newscame from Hindns.

tan that Absar had becomie a renegade and had returned bo
his original rehgton, and (as) he saw the field open to him,.

he had driven oub all t.be ofﬁcmls of the Sultan.

i b
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The Sultan on the -morrow turned the reins of his
intentions towards hbe plains of Hindustan, and started to
make the journey by regular marches, and sent on first thore

’

nobles who .were in receipt of free grants of land in
Hindustan,

They seized Abdar and brought him fo the Sultan’s
audience hall. The Sultan took from him four lakhs of
rupees and bestowed them on Tagin, his treasurer. And he
put him (i. 6., Absar) in prison and he died there. And
the Sultan then returned to Ghazni (and) reelined upon the
bed of comfort and was at ease.

Once more in the year 399 of the Hegira, he collected
his army, and with the intention of revenging himself upon
Anandpal, who had been disrespectful to him in the Multan
campaign, he marched to Hindustan.

When Anandpal learnt of this, he asked help from the
(ather) rajos of Hindustan. As to the Hiadus, a war with
Musalmans appeared to be a meritorious act, then all the
rajas, willingly or unwillingly, collected together to such an

extent that the Rajas of Ujjain aud Gwalior and Kalivjur aud

Kanauj and Delhi aud Ajmir, all came to his assistauce and
started for the Punjab with their respective armies. And as
they had collected in the time of Amir Sabaktagiv, the army
of this ‘time was far greater than that; aud they came to-
gether with Anandpal to the-pluins of Peshawer.

Forty days they lay in face of the Sultan, but no one of . '

either army advanced to bastle. ‘But the army of the -

infidels increased day by day, and from every side people
continued to come te it to such an extent that the infidels of
Eekbar also joined them in thab expedition.
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- And they mede such efforts in thn war thab t.he

infidel women used to sell .their ornaments and send (money.

for) expenses after their husbands, so that their rnales might
be free to fight. And the woman who had no means would
spiu the wheel and labour and send (money for) expenses to
the army.:

- When the Sultan realized thah this time the mﬁdels

were mbh greab smgle-mmdedness preparing themselves for

battle, he dug atrench on both sides of the army and prepar-’

ed for batule Then he sent 1,000 archers in front (and)
they with tucks aod sbratagem excited the infidel ariny and
drew them after them, until they had brought the infidel
army close to their own. And the Musalmdns with great

Aunammxty occupied themselves in repelling the infidels. -

. Aud ia spjte of the great precautions of the Sultan, an
army of 30,000 of the infidels of Kakhar, just in the crisis of
the battle, crossed the trenches on either side and penetrated
to the midst of the cwalry aod used their pxkes, swords and
daggers and knocked over many men and horses, to such an
exbenb (mdeed) that in the uwmklmg of an eye they made
marb)rsof 4 000 men. " Indwed, thitigs' came to such a pitch
that the Sultan was ready even on account of the Kakhars
ro leave bhe field and stop the battle. By chance the elephanr.
of Anandpal got fnghbened at the' noxse of the gnng and’the
smell of powder (and) fled. The army (of the Hmdus)
bhonghb that the rajas hal taken ‘to ﬂ|ghb s0 all sprend the
(news of their) defeat (and fled).

Abdulla Tai, with five or six thousand' Arab troops and
Arealan Jazib, with 2,000 Turk, Pathan and thlzm troopern
for two nights and days pursued the broken army, killed elghtz
‘thousand infidels, and brought back t.bmy elephants and
much plunder and presented themsélves before the Sultan,
The Sultan after this, to make firm the religion of the

Page 20,
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Peophet determined (to wage) a holy war agsingt the
infidels of Nagarkod, and to destroy their idol-houses and

' started. Aud at that time that fort was famous as the fort

of Bhim, (and) when the Sultan reached iv, he ordered it to
be besieged, and killed mavy people in the neighbourhood.
And that fort had been constructed in the time of Raja
Bhim on the top of a hill, and the Hindus called it Makbzan.
il-Asnam or the ” Treasury of the Iduls”’ aund the rajas
of (all) countries used to send there gold and silver and
pearls and rubies aud coral and other riches, and in doing 80
tohey consdered it to be an advuntage for both worlds. For
this reason so great "wealth " was collected in that fortresa
t.bab in the breasury of king were 80 much riches coilected

And as bhab fort was empty of brave men, and there was
o one in it excepb Brahmans, then naturally their ‘minds
were se:zed with panic, aud raised cries to the skies for
mercy. And on the third day they opened the doors of the
fors, and the Brahmans came and saluted Sultan

Then the Sultan with a fow speclal men enbered the fort,
Seven Iakhs of gold mohurs and eight hundred maunds of

gold and SIIVGI' vessels and two hundred maunds pure gold

and two tbousand maunds of vxrgm silver and twenty maunds
of msor(.ed Jevels whwh had been collected there since the
time of Bhim and had cnme into the possessxon of the oxvxl
oﬂicen, al\ fell to the Sulban, and after this the Sulan return-
ed to Ghazni.

And in the year 400 of the Hegira the Snltan when out
of the mhy and placed thrones of gold and silver i in the Hall
of Audxence, and turned out into (and arranged) in the plaln
’a'l) the plunder which had fallen into his hands during has

.m) Journey, and many people from the city aud from the

Note,.—One lakh=s100,000. Oge mlund—82 pounds,
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(surrounding) villages came to see the spectacle. And this
crowd of people remained collected togethet for three days,
and enjoyed themselves in various ways. And he distributed
that wealth among pious and poor men and pleased the

hearts of the people.
Aupd in the year 401 of the Hegira he led his army to

Ghor. Muhammad Ben-Suri, ruler of that country, came
out with ten thousand mounted men to fight the Sultan, and
the battle raged from the time of sunrise until midday, and

the Ghoris behaved with great bravery.
When the Sultan saw their bravery he gave orders and

led his amry back as atrick. The Ghors thought that the
Sultan was routed aud emerged from their trenches aud
pursued him. When they reached the middle of the plain
the Sultan issued (fresh) orders and (his) soldiers faced
about and slew many of the Ghoris and brought Muhammad
Ben-Suri a prisoner to the Sultan. But he from (excessive)
grief licked a poisoued stone (which he had in his ring) and
died in the Sultan’s presence, and that country also was
included in the possessions of the Sultan.

And in the history of Yamani it is witten that the
rulers of Ghor and thesubjects of that place had not until then
conseated to (embrace) the faith of Islam. Bub the author of
the Tabkat Nasiri and Mubarak Shah Rozi, who wrote the
. hstory of the kings of Ghor in verse, have said that the
Ghoris had become Musalmans in the time of the Caliphate
of the Commander of the Faithful Ali-ben-Abi-Talib, may
God be pleased with him; and ‘in time of the Bani-Umayad,
(when) all Musalmans had spokea ' improperly against the
descendauts of the Propheb, on whom be peace, in the
country of Ghor (alone) no one said anything.(of the .sort)
and of this reasop that country is proud abaye all (other)
opunbyies.
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- .Again.in the same year ‘the Sultan went a second time
from Ghazoi to Multan, and he conquered that place by
force and conquest, and slew many of the Karamat (sect) and
(wther) heretics and cut off uhe feet and bhands of many and
brought Daud ben Nasir alive a captive, and took him with
him to Ghazni and coufined him in the fort of Ghor, and ia
that place he died. ‘

And in the yenr 402 of the Hegira a longing for holy
war again was born (in his mind) and he started for Thanesar,

. which is one of the countries of Hiodustan, because some

one had said to him that “Tnanecar is, in the opinion of the
Hindus, God forbid. the comparison, in honour equal to
Mecoa the Great, and that in it there is an ancient idol-house

. in- which the Hindus have made many idols, and the great

idol among them (all) is called Jagsum, and this is the

. belief of the infidels that when the world was born that idol

was born with it.” ‘
And when the Sultao reached the land of Puvjab then
by reason of this that he had made a promise to Anandpnl

. that he would do him no harm he first sent men to him aod
. said: “ Anand pal know that my intention is to go to Thanesar,

It is befitting you that you should seud a fsw tustworthy

_men of your own with our army that there may be no hurdship

or oppression (practised) ou the people of your country.
Avandpal in his own iuterest quickly prepared a

: great entertainment aud called (all) the merchants of
. his country, and ordered them to give gratis flour and
. ghi,. oil, ealt, vessels, wood, everybhmg which would be

required . by the k_mg,s army, and that they should not

- demand (even) a pice or a pie from anyone. And he sen,
_ under his own brother, two thousand cavalry for the kiong’s

seryice, and wrote o him, “ I am your slave and attendant,
whatever your order may be I am ready (to obey) ; bub thie
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'is 'my-petition, that Thanesar is the place of worship of the
people of this country, and (even) if in the religion cf the
Musalmans it is (considered) a meritoriousact to break idols
that (meritorions) work was accomplished in the breaking of
the idols of Nagarkot. Now if the King will accept (as com-
pensation) the cost of his coming and will fix upon those people
8 yearly tax and will return without molesting them, I also
will, as a thankoffering that my prayer has been granted,
send to (the King’s) durbar every year fifty elephants and

many kinds of offerings ” ' ,
The Sultan gave answer: * In the religion of the

Musalmans it is. (laid down thas this is) a meritorious act
that any one who may destroy the place of worship of the
beathen he will reap great’ reward on the day of judgment,
and my intention is to remove entirely idols from the cities
of Hindustan. How then can I prevent myself from going

to Thanesar.” »
- In short, this news reached the Raja of Delbi, (and he

prepared himself to war with the Musalmans and sent
‘messengers to every part of Hindustan, and said to the
Rajas : “Sultan Malimnud, with a greab army, has started
for Thanesar. Now if to thie great flood we do not oppose
by a strong dam, then it will be soon that he will not leave
the plant of wealth, of small or great, in the plain of thie
country. It is therefore Beb@er that we should remove this

danger with one consent.” '
But the Sultan reached Thanesar before they could collect

together, and when he saw the city empty (of defenders)
be plundered it ab his ease, and broke all the idols and
sent (the idol) Jagsum to Ghazni (with orders that) it should
be placed in the road, so that every one might pass over it
and trample it under ‘his feet ;- and he found so great a
" tkessure in the temples that iv could not be-counted.
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And it is related by Haji Mubammad Kandahbari that in
one temple a piece of ruby was found, which in weight was
450' migkals, and no one had ever seen or heard of such a
piece.

And the Sultan after that victory determined to subdue
Delhi, bus his nobles begged him, saying : “It is then neces-

sary to go te Delhi when the Punjab from one end ‘to-
another shall come into our possession and our minds:
be ab -ease from our anxiety regarding (the intentions of)
Anandpal.”

The Sultan approved of this counsel, and despatched a

little less than two hundred thousand slave-girls and slaves

ﬁo:’ﬂ that country and returned to Ghazoi.

"It is said that that year they counted the. city of Ghazm '

as one of the cities of Hindustan, because many slaves and

slave-gu'ls had fallen to each noble. And in the year 403 of .
bhe Hegu'a Altuntash, the Commander-in-Chief, and Arsalan ‘
Jazib conquered Gharjistan and captured Shah Sar known a8
Abu Nasar, (who was) ruler of that country, and broughb _

hlm to Ghazm ’

And whlle t.hey were balung Shah Sar to Ghazni bhey‘.'_

eﬁtrnsbed bim to a slave and that slave nhoughb to himself,
“ib. is nghh nhah I abould seud a letter home that the
pepole of (my) house shall koow of my coming. So he

said tu Shah Sar K Write a letter for me thab I may send 16

home. ,

Shah ﬁar forbnde him muob but bbe slave would mob
leave him (in peace). So as he could not help himself he

took a pen in his hand, and wrote: “Oh useless, undesirnble, :
shameless evil-living onel. Are you in the belief that L do -

n0b-know.of your conduat; and bow you sxpend my propssty




() ‘
~on unlawful (pleasures) as if I do not know of it. You spend
the day in drink and the night you amuse strange bachelors;

you.have ruined my home and lost my bonor. If I ever reach
you safely, I will reckon with you und give you a lesson.”

When be had finished the letter he puta seal on it (and

closed the envelope (and) gave it to the slave. “When the
slave sent the paper to (his) home and (when) his wife under-

stood its purpors,she was seized with panic and anxiety was

bora (in her mind). She thought- in- her henrt that some
enemy might have made a false accusation agaiust her to her
husband and have slandered her to him. So for fear of her
husbaud she took a few female slaves witli her and left her
bome, and went and lLid herself somewhere in a corner.
And when the slave had brought Shah Sar to Ghazni he went

to his home, and what does he see (there). The door is

closed, and thereis no one in the house. He stood bewildered
for a while. Then when he had opened the door his (once)
inhabited house appeared deserted to him. Neither did he

see his wife nor did his servants appesr. Theslave asked the .

neighbours (and) they told him of the paper. The slave
stood for some time in grief lamentiog aud sighing, and
saying: “ I said nothing (of the kind).” Then he wens gud
fetched his wife and mads many apologies to her.

" And in the first assembly when they brought Shah Sar
to the presence of the Sultan, then (some) cheerful friends

told the whole story of the slave to the Sultan. The Sultan -

laughed, and said: “ Whoever steps beyond his proper level

aond behaves dxsrespectfully to the great, deserves this very

punishment,”

Then the Sultan in bdhose very days wrote a letter to -
the Caliph, Abbasi, whose title was,Al-Kadir-Q-billab, (and).

the purport of it was this “most of the cities of Khorasan
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are in our possession. I hope (therefore) that some of the
cities of Khorasan, which are in the hands of your galves, will
also be lefo to these (my) people.” Ae the Culiph had not
the strength to go to war, was forced to agree to this
proposal.

Anobher time the Sultan again seut him a letter, and
wrote in it, “Leave Samarcand also to me.” The Caliph

said, ** I ask shelter from the Pure God from this. I wil not '

do this thing, and if youintend to take it without my consent
I will make the whole world shake:upon .youn.”

The Sultan was very angry at this sayiog, and said: “Do
you wish that I should go to you with thousands of elephants
and upset your kingdom and level all your villages and cities,
and bhaving loaded their dust upon elephants that I should
bring it to Ghazni.”

The messenger heard these words and started oﬁ'(home.)
When some time had elapsed, he came again and brought a
paper. '

The Sultan took his seat and (his) slaves stood in lines
before him, and he posted great elephants ab the door of his
Durbar and got ready his army: At that moment the mes-
senger placed a sealed paper on the throne, and said, * The
Commaander of the Faithful says, ‘Your answer is this.’ "’

Khwaja Abu Nesar Zozni, who was the head of the office
of 'letters, opened the paper (and) saw in it first written this

“In the name ot God, the Merciful, the Compassionate”

Then on the second line these letters were written
separately in this way--A-L.M-A-L-M, and after that the
letter was thus :— -

““Praise be to God, Lord of the World, and peace and safety be on
his Prophetc Muhaimmad and on all his descendmm "

" There was nothing more. The Sultan and all the other
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writers were confounded and did not understand the mean- -
ing of it in the least, Then they read every singla verse
of the Great Kuran and saw its commentsry, but no pnrpdrt .

of it could be ascertained. Khwaja Abu Bakr Kahastani, who

was not till then the pussessor of (any great) rank, plucked up

courage, anl said : *“ The gracious Sultan had mentioned

elephants to destroy that country, so it musb be tbhat bhe )
Caliph in reply to your words has written (the verse of the

Koran, which means):

“Oh! do you not ses how- your @God has treated the friends of the
elephints.”

The Sultan ou heariog shese words fell down senseless
through fear. When after a whils he came to himself, ke wipt
much aud made excuses to the messenger and sent him back
with many gifis and gave Abu Buakr a specinl robe of
honour and promoted him to the dxgmt.y of a uoble.

Aud in the year 404 of the Heglra, the Sultan led hls
army to the Fort of Nanduna, which is situated on ,t.he bill
Baloat.

Aund at this. time Avandpal died, His son, who was
grandson of Jaipal and was Governor of Lahore, had nou the
* etreugth to fight him, (and) leaving few warriors in Nauduna,
went to a (certain) valley of Cahsmere. The Sultan besieged
that fortress, aud prepared what was requisite for muking a
hole aund destroying the fort; but those people "were hard-
pressed and begged for mercy, and made over the fort safe
and complete to the Sultan.

The Sultan took possession of the fort and appointed &
trustworthy man to (the charge of) it, and went after Jaipal's

grandsou to that valley of Caghmers (Which has already been

meuntivued), aud Jaipal's graudson theuce fl.d elsewhere. The

Page 80,
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Sultan plundered much wealth in that valley, and reconciled -
many ‘people to (joiving the) Musalman faith, then he
returned to Ghazni,

° And in the year 406 of the Hegira, the Sultan made a
plfgn' of (conquering) the country of Cashmere, and when he
went there he besieged the strong fort of Lohkot; but
when a long time kad elapsed and much snow fell, and the
cold “becime “extreme (lit. victorious) and reinforcements
beyond numb-r had reached the forr, he raised the siege and
started back- t0'Ghazui. Andin that journey he lost his
way and reuached a place where the whole plain was full of
water. Wherever they went they saw ucught but water,
and in that water many men perished, and this was the first
(miéfortuné due to the) evil eye which had befallen the
Snl’h‘an's army in its journeys in Hindustan. After some
dny'o Che);, with wany devices and efforts, got free from that
water and weut to Ghazni. ,

Aud in that very year Ab-ul-Abbas Mamuun, king of
Khoarazm, wrote a lester of friendship to the Sultau (asking)
for (the hand of) his sister. The Sultan accepted the (offer
in the)-paper and sent his sister to Khoarazm,

Page 21, * And in the year 407 of the Hegira a baud of brigands
made an ‘attazk on the King of Khoarazm, and killed him,
The Sultan from Ghazai went to Balkh, and thence started
for' Khoarazin,

e -" When he reached Khize Bandar, on the frontier of
Khoarazm, he made Muhammad Tai the Chief of an army,
and sent him in front. When the people of Ghazai
had eneainped and were standing up for the morning prayer,
Khamar Tash, who was the leader of the Knoarazmis,
emerged from a place of ambush aud surprised them ; be
killed many of them and routed them.
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) The Sultan sent a large army of picked men (lit, slaves)
after them, and when they came up with them they caphured
Khamar Tash and brought him to the Sultan,

When the Sultan reached the fortress of Hazarasp, the
soldiers of Khoarazm collected and made a simultaneous
“attack on the Sultan’s army, and fought desperately. But
‘they were bruken, and Alaptagin Bokhari, who was thelr
leader, fell into captivity. When the Sultan went to Kihoarazm
he first retaliuted on the murderers of Ab-ul- Abbas (by
killing them), then he gave to the noble Altum Tash the
title of the King of Khoarazm, and bestowed on him the
country of Khoarazm and Arkand together with its surronnd-
iog (couutry). And when thence he came to Balkh he
gnve the country of Herat to his son Amir Masud, and made
Muhammad Ben Hussnin Zozoi his deputy, and senb bim
with him. And the country of Korkan he gave to his
son Amir Muhammad and sent Abu Bakr Kahastam with
him,

Aund when the Sultan was (once more) at leisure from

‘the affairs of Khoarazm, it was then winter time, and he
. gave an order (saying): .« We will pass the winter.in- Bust
:80. that the soldiers may be in comfort.” :

Aund in the early spring of the year 409 of the Hegira,
when the nights and days are equal (in length) and the
‘soldiery of verdure aud flowers was standing in the meadows
of the plains and groves, and the pure air and fragranb
‘breeze had conquered the fortress of the buds, the Sulban,
_with &’ lakh of sawars and twenty thousand mfanbry, ‘who
bad ‘assembled with the iutention of (juining) a boly
‘war from Turkestan, from Mawar-ul-Nahr and from Khota-
‘san and from obher counbnes, sbarued for KanauJ. '

™o < ety
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B r Now that country sfter ( the invasion of ) Kashtasp till

“then had never fullen into the hands of any foreign (con-

querer), and from Ghazui to that place it was three months’
j«mrney, aud there were seven very large rivers to be crossed.

When the Sultan reached the frontier of Cashmere,
the Goveruor of Cashmere presented many things worth

“offering _before the Sultan, aud started at the heud of his

army for (the Sultau’s) service. When the soldiers of
Islam bad traversed mauny stages aud had arrived at Kuuauj,
they saw a greut, firn, strong fort, so (great) that a spectator
would t.h‘iuk_ that its head reached to the sky. Aud the
raja of that place was called K.rah, (and) when he saw the

'(S‘ult.an's) army he was coufouuded at their grandeur

and pomp aud was terrified, in his heart there remained
no iden of fightiog, and he seuis some mon to the preseuce of
the Sultau, saying : “I obey the orders of the King,” and he

"himself, with affection and siocerity, descended from the fort

with his greab and small sons, and according to the writings

. of Habib-us-Siyar (it appears that) he also embraced Islam.
-And the Sultan after three days started for the fort of

Meerut. The raja of that fort, who was called Harwst,
entrusted the fort to trustwurthy men, and himself went
away to auother place (lib. to one side). And the people
m the fort saw that they had no power of resistance, so they

' presenbed (l;u the Sultan) ten bhousand times one thousand

dirhams, which is two lakhs and fifty thousand rupees, and

" thirty elephants, and obtained peuce. Again, the Sultan
i from that place started forthe fort of Mahawan, which
‘ fort is built on the banks of the Jun water. Aud the raja of

that furt waus called by the name of Kalchand. He mountcd

) an ¢lephant and determined to cross the water. The army

of the Sulvan started afver bim, {(mnd) when vhe suldivrs gob
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tiear to him, that unlucky tyrant drew (his) dagger from (lts)
sheath (and) first cut off the head of his wife and son, then
he struck himself on the breast and sent himself to hell.

~ Aud in that plaze so much plunder fell into the Sultan’s
hauds that no one could count iv. Eighty great élephanta
alone were (found) in it.  When the Sultan was ab leisure
from that affair, some one (caused to) pass to his auspiciots
ears (the news) that in those parts there was a city called
Muttra, (aud) that Krisha Bas Dev, whom the Hindus call a
prophet, was born in that city, and (that) in extent (lit. bvild-
ings) or population no one had seen in the world a city like
it. And there were so many wonders and curiosities in ib
thab no one can (enough) extol them. The Sultan on hear-
ing this account immediately started for that place. And
although that city was subject to the Raja of Delhi, still nv
one appeared to stop the King's (advance.) He reached his

" destination without anxiety and without interference, and

plundered the city and burnt the idol-houses of the city and
neighbourhood, and broke the idols and much wealth came
into his hauds. And he was so astonished at the sight of
those buildings (which he found there) that he sent & letter
to the nobles and chiefs of Ghazui, and wrote this paragraph
in it:*“In this city there are a thousand buildings with
foundations (as strong) as the sky and most of them are
built of marble, and there are so many idol-houses in them
that they are beyond counting; and if any one should desire
to build such buildings, then if he were to spend a lakh. of
gold mohurs on expert builders, he would (hardly) complete
it in two hundred years.”

It is said that he found amongst them five ldnls of pure

_gold, in the eye-sockets of which vhey pub sapphlrea (and)
,all those sapphires were valued at fifty thousand tupees.
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plabe of emeralds, which in weight was 400 miskals, When
thay had broken up that idol eight thousand three hundred
miskals of gold were got from it, and of idols of silver, great

'..:nqd small, there were more than one huadred, (wnd) when

,they broke them all up they loaded a bundred camels with
them. After this they set fire to all the buildings, (and)
When twenty (days had passed they marched from that
place. |

And it is written in the history of Alfi that the Sultan
.heard that in those parts there were on the bauk of the river
seven great forts, so he set ouh in that direction, And the
_ruler of those forts used to pay tribute to the Delhi Raja,
.and when he learnt of this he fled. The Sultan reached those
forte and was taking a view of the (surrounding) countries
(when) it chanced that his eye fell on an idol-house which,
in the belief of the Hindus, was standing for four thousand
years. In those forts and idul-houses everything that the
_Musalmans found they took possession of, and at the King’s
stirrup they started for the fort of Mauj.

- And in that fort there were many brave men, and they
‘had put supplies (sufficient) for a long time in it. . The
'Sultan besieged those people for fifteen days and left them
1no way of going and coming. When they understood that
-the. Sultan would . conquer the fort by force, some of them
.descended form the fort and slew themselves, and some with
- their women and sous threw themselves into a fire, and some
‘opened the gate, took their daggers and koives in their

-hands . and fougho such a fight with the Musalmans that

bhey were all killed.

: The Sultan brougho the plundered property iuto his
possessmn, and at ouce started for Chandpal’s fort, Chand-
pal hxnsolf saw (that he had) no strength to ﬁghb (s0)



(31)

with his family and property fled to the mountains; The’ '
Sultan took possession of (all) property remaining in the
» fort, and divided the stores of grain among his soldiers.
" Then he decided to go to the home of the infidel
Chand Rai. He also did like Chandpal ; they fled to She
" hills with their prop:rty and poasesswns .

: And Chand Rai had an elephant whlch t.he Sulban had ]
many times tried, at a great price, to obtain ; but he could

. not get ib.  And (about) that time that elephahb, without
its attendant, ran away from the camp of Chand Rai, and
came straight to the Sultan’s tent. The Sultan gave
orders and they seized it, and he was wmuch pleased.

. And he gave that elephant the name of Khodadad (i. e.,
God-given). Then when the Sultan ariived at Ghaz.n,i“
he counted up the plunder which he had taken in the ’

~ expedition to ( lit. the pluander of ) Kanauj. It turned out
(to be) twenty thousand gold pieces aud a thousand thousand .
rupees and fifty thousand slave, female and male, and three :
hundred and fifty elephants, and there. was much other .

. property. -

- Then the Sultan gave orders, saying: “Bulld a Musjid-i .
jami, which Pathans call ‘the Friday mosque’ of marble,

50 that in some places there way be.square (blocks of marble). -
and in some hexagmal, and in sume ociagounal, and in some.,,;,

" eylindrical, so that spectators may be astounded at (the . -Page3.
beauty of) the sight of it,and when he bad built that mosque .,

. he put in it such carpets and lamps and other. things of -
beauty, that cheerful youths used to call it *“ The Bride of
Heaven,” Aud in the neighbourhood of that mosque :he
built a school and eollecied iu it the buoks of every -(kind -
of) wisdom and endowed that mosque and that school with
(the revenues of). many villages. And as'the Sultau-did .

Hoamd o
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shis work with (great) ‘enthusiasm, every noble begau to
build in his own property mosques, schools and rest-hoyses
for travellers. 1In a little while so many buildings resulted
that they could not be counted, And in that journey the
Sultan had brought a bird from Hindustan (which was) like
a dove (and) should any one mix poison in the food and
bring that food to the aesemply, then t,hao bird would
tremble reet.lessly and shed tears mvoluntanly He sent.
this with many (other) offermgs bo the Cahph Al Kadr o-
Billah of. Baghdad. . .

And he had found a sbone m Hmdmban bhab however
muoha man was wounded when bhey scraped ‘thab stone in
water and pub iv on that wound, 1b would 1nshanb|y begm to
h,aal And in the year 400 of the Hegnm he sent to Baghdad
a roll of conquesbs in which all (hls) conquests of Hindustan
were written, The Caliph of Baghdad on the day he received

Puge®s, that’ paper, assembled a great gathering and ordered thab
that roll of conguests ‘should be read ‘from the pulpits
before (all) the people, so that the peo'ple might be informed
of the exaltation ‘of the standards of Islam and of ‘the de-
struction of the (very) root of the heathen and return thanks
to God and greatly appland Sultan Mahmud of Ghazni, and
pray for his' (further) conquest and victory. And on- that
day there was such rejoicing in Baghdad as one rejoices-on
the day of the Id—and' (to do) this was (but) fitting,

7.'ljnasmuch’ s ‘just as ‘the companions of the Prophet dida
(great) work in the cities of Arabia, Persia, Turkey and
Syria, such a work did- the Sultan do in Hindustan (and)
gained both this world and the next.

And in the year 412 of the Hegira, the wise and pious
unanimously petitioned the Sultin, saying: “For a long time
.the Sultan.goes every year t> Hiudustun for a holy war to
gain reward in heaven, aud there displays the standard of
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Islam, but on tha (very) road to the Housa of Gad (e,
Mecca) the dwellers in the desert, and the Karamatas have
geined the ascendancy and the Abbusi Caliphs have no
power, so Musalmans have remained (so) unfortunate (as to
lose) the reward of pilgrimage. If something w'onld.be
done to help them it wouldfbe well.”

The Sultan accepted their words (of advice) (and) made
one Abu Muhammad Nasahi, who was the-head of the Qazis
of the Sultan’s domiaions, Lord of the Pilgrims, and gave
him thirty thousand pieces of gold for those dwellers in the
desert who used to attack the caravans and seut him to the
House »f God, aod many people, nobles and poor and desti-
tute, great and smll,started with him. After many marches
dwellers. in the desert, according to their ancient custom,
were holding the road and would not allow the caravan to
advance. Qazi Abn Muhammad Nasahi, as peace-offering,
sent them five thousand pieces of gold, and said to them :
Take this and leave the road (open) to us.” '

The chief of the dwellers in the desert, whose name
was Hamad-bin-Ali, would not make peace and prepared
his force and advanced with the intention of. raiding
towards the caravan. It chanced that in the caravan there
was a Turk slave who was very skilful at archery; he drove
an arrow at Hamad and struck bim fair in the head, and he
fell headlong from his horse. Immediately the desert men
took bis body and fled.. e
" Qazi Abu Mubammad Nasahi, with heart at ease,
continued his pilgrimage safe and sound, and in peace
returned (home),

And in that very year, that is, in the year 412 of the
Hegirs, the Sultan heard thas the infidels of Hindusian bad

Page 89.
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[} ‘)qken very. ill of the Raja f Kanauj, who was called Korabh,
and had blamed Inm, saymg “Why have yon obeyed the
orders of Sulbau Muhmud ? and '\Iunda, the Raja of

’_Kalm‘] T, pursued and killed K orah,

When the Sulban hem-d this & news he prepm'ed a larger
force than (he had) the’ first time and went aftér Nanda to
.Hindustan. When he reached the'river Jun, the graudson
.of Jaipsl, .uhe. Rajs of the Punjab, ,who _had-often fled
.‘frpm' the, .Sulbgq,; advanced to help Nanda to the centre of

ihe Sltais: 'rodtes tooppase the Sultan’s: army. But-the

-waler was dgap (and).no.ouc-coild cross to the other bank,
Suddeuly -eigpt of. the Sultau’s picked slaves. crossed the
swabter- -with - a - rush, and they threw the whole of the army
_;»f Jaipal’s grandson iuto confusion and made- them fly
defore them. Juipal's grandson with a few men fled :;dd
the (eight) élz;vcs wont on; and there was a city near and they
;pluintlzred 16 aod destroyed jts temples, audtil; should be
evidens to the wise shat cight “(slave) youths caunot break
an army, but Lhose elghb slaves were (iu reality) nobles (aud)
1133 crossed wwh l.helr own forces, and therefore t,hey had
doneq 80" great. & work, “From that place he took his army
towards Kalinjar. Nanda with 36,000 mounted’ men aud
45, ,000 footmen and G40 elephants came out to (nge ) battle
t,o the Sull'm. .

'l‘he Su'tan ascended & hillock aud surveyed the army
of Nanda ; as it appeared- to him, (to be).very great (in
number) he -regretted haviog come ; he beut his head in:
prostration and prayed for victory and conquést. to God. It
happened that that night a great panic feel on the heart-
ot Nauda ; helefc ail bis property and war material, and
fg’om fear ﬂed dway. ' :

)F’I P A P t B -
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. Nexb day the King mounted (his horse) aud fiset he
searched for (any) places oframbush, and when Hw*fea’r(of,

treacheryj and deceit on the ‘part of tire heathens was dis-’

. of

pelled he began to plunder, = st hags -

All kinds and soris and vsmetxéh of ﬁhmgs fell into the
hands of the Musalman soldiers Also in those parbs threy
found 580 elepbanta in a forest. And as his wag'fiot’ at ~ easd
in bis mind regarding the Punjab (which was) in his'redf;

he was. gatigfied that year wigh, xlmvmg done) bhab work'

' (and) rebamed to Ghum
 aheew 203 d

Againi :in thoge vozyzdays pew; reached him: b{pb g;h,g
people of Kirat-and ‘Nardin, A whigh,are cpunted 28 t}“ﬂ&

within thé limits of Hmdusmn had noit plaged npt the. lpltgrj

of Islam on their necks. aad :had, turged thelt fhegds.(a.,\%y)

froth: ‘the orders .of. the. laws , of Muhammad, qq,whom h?

peace, (a.hd) were mostly: indulgiog m,ldolqtry.,( srtne sl

The Sulltan todk th.h hindéarpenters; aid smiths ani}

masons and led his army. "He first came to Kirat, und he
subdued Klra’o abd Kirdt is a codl plaee (sxmabed) bebweeu'
Hitffustan and Tutkesdm (and) many fruits:grow in e

S When the’ ‘tuler’ of tlxab place’ aﬁ«éep'f.ed Isli‘m““‘ﬂlfé
Sult.an sent HaJlb Aln, the Son' of ‘A?n‘alan Jazib to Nurdin;
He, when he’ got there, conquere(i ‘that place (and’ m!inj*)
slave-girls and ‘slaves and (much) properiy'caie into -Mis
handg, aud there was u great x,dol-house Lhere, and \\l o he
destgoypd it ap engraved atone e Wus fuuud m wé‘m Arsy
from jt) which: (showed t.hab I.he 1dol hopse) ba een, 16
the. belief of bhe Hmdus, bullb for‘ 40, 000 yesrs. .

IVRE "L H
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made Ali;- the .son of Kadar SalJukn, commauder of Jw, spd
then returaned to Gthazui.: : - _— Ceem et
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' And in the year 412 of the Hegira he dotermined (to
go) to' Cashmere, - and he (therefore) besieged Lohkot. He
spent one month there, but they were firm (in their defence)
and the hand of the Szlitan was not (victorious) over them.
He retired from that place (and) went to Lahore (and) senb
his-army in every direction to plunder and raid (and) they
collected an extremely great quantity of (all sorts of) pro-
perty and goods.

And on that occasion when the grandson of Jaipal had
become weak he fled Lo the Raja of Ajmere. The Sultan
went and captured Lahore and entrusted it to a trustworthy
noble, and the other parts of the Punjab he (also) entrusted
to trustworthy and loyal men, and he held his hand from
plunder and began to cherish and please the minds of the
peopls, and -he left his army in that country and published
the “khutba” (sermon) in his name, and in the first
(beginning) of spring he went to Ghazoi. "

And in the year 413 of the Hegira, on the way to
‘Lahore, he determined to go to the country of Nanda.
When he reached the fort of Gwalior he made arrangements
to blockade it. After four days the raja of that fort sent
to him very intelligent messengers with (an offering of)
thirty-five ¢lephants (and) made peace with him,

- The Sultan started frcm that place for Kalinjar where

~ ‘Nanda abode, Nanda sent 300 elephants (as an offering) for
.pesce. Wken the Sultan had accepted the elephants the

raja turned all the elephants, without their attendants,
loose in the plain, The Sultan gave orders to his Turks
and they seized them all and mounted upon them, and the
people of the fort were astounded at thom.
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And Nauda in.the Hindu tongue composed & poem in
praise of the. Sultan and sent it to him.  The Sultan
showed that poem to the learned men of Hindustan and of
Arabia and of Persia (and) they all cried * bravo ! ” and
“well done.” , :

The Sultan was very pleased and gave him a commission
a8 ruler of fifteen fortresses, of which one was the fort of
Kalinjar (itself) together with (many) other presents.
Nanda also presented to the Sultan much riches and many
pearls (and) then the Sultan started back to Ghazni and
arrived there safely.

And in the year 415 of the Hegira he took a muster of
the army. Withous (counting) that army which was in
(distant) provinces they wrote with pens (upon the muster-
rolls) 54,000 mounted men and 300 elephants, and with that
splendour (of retinue) he started for Balkh,

Ab thab time the people of Mawsr-ul-Nahr complamed
of the rule (lit. hand) of Alitagin. The Sultan crossed the
Jaihun river, determined to remove him. The nobles of
Mawar-ul-Nahr came out to receive him and brought
offerings worthy of their positions (lit. selves). And Yusuf
Kadar Khan, who was King of all Turkestan, also came to
receive him. He was granted an interview with the Sultan,
(who received him) with great affection and friendship.
The Sultan was greatly pleased (with him) and they held
(various) assemblies and presented to one another offerings
and rarities and parted with peace, and (with well) pleased
(miads.) When Alitagin learut this news he fled. The Sultan
sent men after him and captured him and brought him
back. And he put f:tters on him (and) confined him in a
(certain) fortress of Hindustan, and he himself marched to

@ bazni,
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="C'And in thas very year, i.c.. 415 of the Hegln, some one
made- ’ﬁ)etmon t6 him - “(sayiog) thab : “The Hindus &
Piodastan ‘say that when souls become - separated frony
bodies thiey all ‘go t5 do service to Somnath, and that thére
every soul is made over to the body (most) suitable (to it).
And¢ifother belief of the Hindus is this, that the ebbing
add flowing of the ocean is for the worship 6f Somnath.
Knd the Brahmians say that Somiath was very angry with
fhose'i6ls which Sultan-Mahmud bad brokén dnd therefore
had ot helped them,’ of else in the twinkling of an éye ié
would have destroyed them all (i.c., the Sultan’s forces). Akt
snothisy” of their beliefs is this, that Somnath is a King," and
l.lbﬁ’ @lly other mdols are his door-keepers-ard watchmés, ™ *
. Whén bhe Sultan was mformed of this matt.er he made
a firm resolve to conquer So,mnabh)Ou the 10th day of the
month of Shabkadar he shart.ed for Somnath th.h a choicé .
a?‘my and wxﬁh 30,000 mounted men, warriofs of the Faltb
who had come from Turkestan and other couninos And-
thab (1,. e.,’Somnabh)’ is a great city on the bank of the river-
lAman, and it is the (chlef) place of worship of all the Brah- .
fnans £hd* (ove ¥) “heathen and (the idol) Somnath was’
alsd'fn thab’ plaée And it is ‘elated in histories thab'people
in the tlme of the’ propheb of the last'period, on whom be-
peace, had Btought a great idol named Somnath from the.
Kaaba (i. ¢.; Macca), and had taken it to that place and had

, fo(md‘e& that -city in its name. But it would appear from

the bookid’of the first (of. the): Brahmans, which books wére

| cbﬂpxlef a8 t.housand years before (t.hé era ofy Islam, that

ihﬂ accounb is not true. Indeed, they-say that that idok is-
‘of ‘the time of Krishna, and that'is four thousand years (agoy

- #nd the Brahmans used to worship it, and according to the
" version of the Brahmauns, Krishna disappeared (from earth)’
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in that very place. The Sultan on the 15th of the Ramzan,

which Pathans call “ the month of fasting, ” reached Multan.

As he was advansing a waterless aand grassless’ desert
" appeared befors him, so the Sultan ordered that each one

‘should carry water and grass with him. And as a precaution
‘the Sultan himself loaded twenty thousand selected: camels

‘with' water and grass, When they had traversed’ bhab deso-
late’ ‘wilderness they reached the city of Ajmere. i
~ And the raja of that place had witlidrawn from the road
{80) the’ soldters of the Sultan began to slay and plunder:;
" ‘But (as) t,hen' object was Lo destroy Somnath; they did ‘nét
wait to carry the fort of “\Jmere, (but) went on and beized
the road before them. Aud during thjs - t.hey came - updn
many forbs full of brave men ; but all were ﬁlled ‘with fear,
atd withious ‘anything (in the way of ﬁghl.lug) they agreed
(6o acknowlédge the Sultau’s rule),” after thab he’ reached
Nahrwala aud found that city empby, (so) the Sulbau ordered
'(hls men) bo go and fetol from that city much grass
* When they had gone and fetched t.he1grds§‘thej seb ouﬁ
quickly; and Wwith the utmost speed feached Somnath; "
' *And there, on the seashore, they saw a greah fortress {so
great) that a man would think thab its summit touched the

sky and the waters of the sea warred wibli'ihs Walls, (and').

many infidels were seated on its summib gazing ‘at the
Musalmans. And they were crying with’ loud vonces,
“ Somrath has led you here, 8o that with one blow he may
slay you all, and he will now take his revenge for all the
idols you have broken in Hindustan,” Next day a8 the sum
rose the Sultan issued orders o his army, (and) bhey wenb
straight to the base of the walls of the fort to fight, When
the Hindus saw their bravery ‘and courage they lef tbe
summit of the fors, for fear of the archers, (aud) all fled t.o
the xdol houses and begged aid from Somnabh

/u/
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'[‘he Musalmans plzmted ladders and ohmbed to the
summib of the fort, and with loud voices chanted, “ God is
great I” The Hindus also unanimously opposed them, and
they fought together the whole day. 'When night came
both armies rested, and nexb day the battle joined in the
same way (and) unbil night they were themselves out (and)
they killed many heathen. Qn-the third day many armies
came from (all) parts of Hindustan and drew themselves
up in lines outside on the plain. The Sultan lefs some to

(carry on) the siege and the rest went and gave battle omn

the plain. And by the coming of the Chiefs of Pramdev and
Dabishlim, the Musalmans’ strength failed, The Sultan in
great grief went to a corner and seized the mantle of Abul
Hassan Kharkani, and prayed to the presence of the Pure
God for victory and conquest. Then he came to the centre
of his line and charged upon the infidels. Vnchory was his
destiny, and he slew five Lhousuud heretics. And when fear
overcame the people of the fort, they lefo the ﬁghtmg and
the Brahmans and attendants of Somnath, who were aboub
four thousand, went to the bank of the sea Aman and seated
themselves in boats and started towards the island Sarandip,
(L.6., Ceylon). But the Sultan had previously thought of this
and had pested several ships filled with soldiers on the way

‘to Siwrandip. When to them the ships of the heathen ap-
peared 'they pursued them (and) sank them all in the water. .
" Then the Sultan with his sons and nobles entered the fort

aud viewed all its buildings.

Afser that (he saw) in the fort an idol-house which had
been built so long and broad, that it had fifty-six pillars.and
all were studded with jewels.

. (And Somnath was au idol of stone five yards long, of
which two yarde were in the earth and Lbree yards out. When
the Sultan’s gaze fell on the idol he had & battle-axe in his
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. should call me ° the idol-breaker,” not ‘the idol-sellir; ",
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hand aod strock ib so in the face that he broke the face,
After that he gave orders (aud) took two pieces from " it
(and) gent them to Ghazni. (e he put in the doorway of
the Fnday mosque and the other he put in’ the palace of

“the King’s audiencs ha.ll

4

For six hundred years thoee pleces (of the xnlol) lay

. therg and.people used to see them.

- And he separated two more piecesof Somnath and-sent
thein to Mecca and Medina (so) that they might plac-:them
in the main roads that poor "and great- might walk over
them. P ’ SR :

And this story is (also) true thab at the time he was
“going to break Somnath, & band of Brahmans appealed to
the uobles (saying): * If the Sultan will not break this idal
we will pay so much into the Stute treasury.” The uobles
“approved of this suggestion and srid to the Sultan: « By
the breakmg of this idul idolatry will not be lost to this

country, and if wealth be taken instead of it many Musral-
mans will benefit by it.”

The Sultan said: “ Your words are true, bup if I do this
thmg people will call me ‘ Mahmud, the id.l-seller,’ and
if I break io they will call me ¢ Mahmud, the idol-breaker.’
Now it is better that both in this world and the nexs they

and the advantage of the firm faith of the Sultan waa tl-at,»

(when) he broke that idol 80 many royal pearls: came out. nf
its belly.than they were a hundred times mpre than the
Brahmans’ price (which they had offered.) ,
And it is written in the “ Habib-ul-Siyar” that Som-
nath is the name of the idol which the Hindns .account

chief among their idols;. buv from the words. of Sheikh

Pag 4.
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Farid-ud-Din Attar it appears contrary to ﬁhia, as the follow-
ing couplet itself bears witness:~—

The Qrmy of Mahmud in the midst of Somnath
Found an idol and it had the name of Nath,

That is ¢ Som”’ was the name of the idol-house and
« Nath >’ was the idol in it,’

And to the writer of these lines it appears that what the
historians have said is true, and the Sheikh's words are not
contradictory, because this word (Somnath) is a compound
of *“ Som ” aud ** Nath,” snd “Som ” was the name of a
raja who constructed the idui ur.d *“ Nath ” was the name of
the idul. Later, by reason of its constant use, both became
one naume, and it was used as the name of the idol and also
of the idol-house aud also of the city, No, if anyone
calls the name of the idol “ Somnath ” or says ‘“ Nath ” aloue
both are equal, and “ Nath” in the Hindi tungue means
“ venerable.”

And in the temple of Somnath on nights or days when
the moon or the sun is eclipsed more thau two or three
lakhs of people would assemble, aud from distant countries
people would bring offerings to it, and all the villages with
which (various) rulers of Hindustan had endowed Somnath
were said to be two thousand (in number.)

Aud two thousand Brahmans used contiuually to wor-
ship Somnath, and every night they used to bathe it in fresh
water from the Ganges, in spite of the fact that six bundred
¢ kos " of roud lay between the Ganges aud Sumuath.

Aud a chain of gold was hung from oue corner of the
temple to the other, (aud) bells were suspended from that
chain, Whenever anyone would shake the chain and the
Brahmaus would hear they would assemble for worship.
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And five hundred singing and dancing slave-girls and
three hundred male musicians lived always in that idol-
house, and their food and reqnirements were supplied from
the endowment. :

And three hundred barbers used to sit ready to shave
beards or heads, and most of the rajas (of Hindustan) used
to send their own daughters as an offering for the service of
Somnath to that idol-house. And so many pearls were
received into the Sultan’s treasury from that idol-house that
one-hundredth part of those pearls had never been collected
in the treasury of any king. An in the history- of Znin-ul-
Maasir it is related that originally the idol-house in which
Somuoath was, was dark, and its light was owing to the light
of the pearls which had been placed in lamps and the lustre
(which) shone from them.

And in the treasury of Sumnath so many small idols of
gold and silver were found that people could not count
them.

As the Philosopher Sanai has said :—

The idols of Mecca and Somnath were destroyed
By the hands of Mubammad and of Mahmud.

- From Mecca Mubammad removed opposition ;
Somnath was made by Mahmud pure and clean,

In short, when the Sultan was relieved of the (abxiely
of the) affair of Somnath, he d«cided to punish Raja Framdev,
who was the great Raja of Nahrwala city, because (when)
the Sultan was engaged in the siege of Sumnath fre hiad reut
much assistunce to the heathens; iudecd two vr Wrve thous
sand Musalmans had fallen mertyrs ot the hands of bis grmy.
And after the victory of Somunath, Rajia Pramdev fud from
Nahrwala, which was the capital of Gujerat, and firmly
established himself in the fort of Khanda. And from Som-
vath by dry (land) that fort was six-score kos jouruey. And

’Q;f bl,
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when the Sulian reached the.limits of chab fort-he saw thab
thera  was much water all round it and from no’ direction
-was there any way of approach to it,

The divers of the army did all they could (iit. took much
shought) but they ¢ uld uot at all understand (any solution
uf) the case,  Theuw he sent for the divers of the country
and a~ked them aboun the (mesus of) getting to the other
bauk. Tuey said : ¢ Lu such and such a place there is a way
vf erossing (i.e., a ford), buu shouid the waters come in waves
all the pevple (who are urying to cross) will be drowned.”

"The Sultao sought an vmen in the great Kuran and
placed his reliance on the favour of Gud. Aud with his
nobles and soldiers he rode his horse into the water and in
sufety he reached th: further bank. The saving of his own
lifo. appeared to Pramdev the greatest (of all pussible)
(blessing), and huving got beyoud (thought for) his honour
or his good vam: he went ous of the fort by himselfin the
g+rb of a fakir and fled to some corner, aund the svldiers of
the Sultan eatered the fort aud killed mauny iufidels, and
made slaves of their women aud boys, and vhe property aud
jewels of the rajs they depusited in the Sultan’s treasury.

Tae Sulsan,.victirious and couquering, weut to Nahr-
wala, aud wh=u he saw the pure air, beautiful youths, and

. greeu gardens, aud clear ruuning water, aud (every) other

thing required; for enjoyment, he decided to live for some
years ip that country ; indeed he approved of vhis (thought)
shat he shogld make that plice his capital, and should
entrustg(hszyi .to (bis son) Sultau Masud. From some

© buvksgf bisjpry.it appears that at that time some fow mines

of purg gold.had beew fouud there, and that the King for
thap.reagon (was inclined to) make that place his capital
and now no sign of those mines is lefr, And:this has fre-
quevtly bappened, shat ab that sime there would ke a mine
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somewhere and that now it is lost, For -instance, in Seistan
in the Sultan’s time a mine was found, and - some time-after
was lost on account of an earbhquake. And in the'island of
Saraudip and of Pegu and in other harbours and islands

miues of gold and sapphires had appeared, So the Sultan
wanbed to seat his army in boats and subdue those countries,
but the nobles, on account of their well wishing (towards
him) represented that Khorasan had with great trouble come
into their possession and innumerable people had been kill-
ed, now to leave it aud to «stablish Gujerat us capital did
not appear advisable, This advice had (its) effect on the
Sultau’s mind, and he determined to return (to Ghazai) and
he said: “ Chooss a man to whom to entrust the Government
of this ountry.” The nobles consulted togéther and peti-
tioned the Sultan saying, “ We cannot come and go con-
stantly in this country, so if it appears desirable to the
Sultan let him appoint a mau of this country as ruler.”

The Sultan held council with the people of Somnath on
this subject, (and) they said to him: ** In this place no one
can come up to the Dabishlim (family) in dignity and in
(purity of) birth, aud at this (very) time there is a man of
their family here in the garb of a Brabman, If the Sultan
will entrust this work to him, then it would ‘be well. But
some people said : ** This Dabishlim is a very harsh temper-
ed man, and has formerly fought several times for the
throne, and each time has been taken captive by his brothers
aud hus obtaincd release by (showing) humility-aud (by mak-
ing entreaties, Now perforce he has taken to (the life-of &
recluse, and has (permanently) taken his seat‘in the témple.
But there is another Dabishlim from among his relations
who is very iotelligent and understands (matters of State)
ex tremely well. Indeed all the Brabhmans admit his (superi-
or) understandiog ‘and foresight.- - And ab the present
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moment he is Governor of snch and such a place, but if the
Sultan will (deign to) give an order he will come with
pleasure (lib. with both eyes) and will present himself for
the service (of the Sultan), and as the Sultan may please in
that way will he protect the interests of the country, and
year by year will pay the revenue of Hindustan into the
Sultan’s treasury.

The Sultan said : *“ Were that man present here and had
himself said those words it would have been more fitting,
bub as I have never seen him or set eyes on him, to give

him so great a country would be a thing (worthy) of every
foolish people.”

Then the Sultan summoned that Brahman Dabishlim
and entrusted him with the government of Nahrwala. He
took on himself the (respousibility of the) tribute and reve-
nue (of Nahrwala) and- petitioned the Sultan (saying),
“Such aund such a Dabishlim (who) is (a member) of my
family and has greabt eamity towards me, now when he
learns of the King's departure and comes to attack me he
will defeat me, as I have not so much power and strength
(a8 he, and) if the Sultan will release me from his intrigues
I will pay yearly into the Sultan’s treasury twice the
revenues of Cabul snd Zabal.” ’

The Sultan said : “ It is (now) two years since we came
for this Holy War, not two indeed but two aund-a-half; we
will, however, first come to an understanding with him and
after that we will think of returning to our native land.”’

Accordingly he sent an army to the country of Dabish-
lim and in a little while they conquered that couutry (also)
and brought that (other) Dabishlim alive aud gave him over
to the (first) Dabisblim. Dabishlim made a petition (sa)ing).
“In our religion it is not lawful v kill a king. Indeed it
is the custom whenever oue kiog is tuken prisoucr ab the
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‘hand of another king, that he should build for him a confined

dark cell under his own throue and make a hole in it in order
that he may give him water and bread, aud that he should
remain captive in it until one of the two should die. Now,
as 1 bave not sufficient organization to be able to keep an
enemy a prisoner with safety to myself, aud if the Sultan

should go I fear lest his relations might rebel against me
and release him from me, so I ask that the Sultan may (be
pleased to) take him with himm to Ghazol, and when my
strength and power is (sufficiently) developed the Sultan
may (kindly) send him (buck) to me.” The Sultan granted
this petition also, Two years and a half after (his setting
out on the expedition to Somuath) he returned to Ghszui,
But as Raja Pramdev and the Raja «f Ajmere and (wuny)
obher rajae had collected a great army aud had taken poeses-
sion of the Sultan’s route, the Sultan did not coposider it
advisable to (give them) battle, (and) started for Multan by
the said route. The army suffered greatly in every place
(for want of) supplies, water and grass, and with great
trouble renched Ghazoi in the year 417 of the Hegira,

And as the Sultan was starting for Multan by the said
route, he ordered that a man was rcquired to accompany them
to show them road. Accordingly a Hindu agreed (to do

* this) (and) started at the head of the army, and he led the

army by such a route that there was no sigu of water any-
where on that route. When a night and a day bad passed
such bardships had come upon the army that eack one eaid,
“ Verily the signs of the Last Day have appeared :” The Sul-
tan questioned the Hindu (saying) : “ What sort of road is
this that you have brought us by ?” The Hiudu said: “I am
counted as one of the servants of (the God) Somuvath, and
I have brought you and your army by this route in order to
destroy you." The Sultan became furious nnd slew the
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Page 67,

(48)

Hindu then (and there). And that very night ke left -the.

army and wenb to a desert (spot), and there he bowed ‘his

face in prostration before the Pure God, and with maay lamen-

tations he prayed for deliverance fur himeelf and his army. -

When one watch of the night had passed, in the south

a bright light appeared to him. Heat once issued orders to
his army (and) they went in the direction of that light.

" Nextday when dawu was breaking they reached the bank

of a river and by the blessing of the devotion of the Sultan

they ecaped death. Aund Dabishlim (had) found strength
(bo establish himself firmly) in the government of Somuath,
(s0) after some time ho sent messengers with pearls and
treasure to the Sultan and asked for his enemy from him.

To the Sultan this course appeared to be injudicious,
and he was perplexed regarding the sending of that youth,
but (as).the nobles and miuisters were plensed with Dabish-
lim they petitioned the Sultan (saying) : ¢ What kinduess is
reqn}red to heathens and heretics ? and the Sultan had also
promised to send him back, so ib is right thab this youth
should now be sent to him.” In short, he made Dabishlim
over to the messéngere and dismissed them. When they
reached Somuath Dabishlim (the ruler) gave orders and got
ready a cell according to their well known custom, and
himself went out to meet the youth and put upon his head
his own dish and water jug. And made bim run by the
stirrup of his horse and led him towards the cell (which he
prepared).

But as he was going along the road, for joy he was
making his horse gallop about on one side of road and on
the other, (and) the heat of the sun overcame him (and)
he lny down under a tree to rost, and was taking breath:
and he spread a red handkerchief over his face,
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It shanced that as he was thus (lying), by the depree .
of the Lord of Mighp, a pwerful bird came o;\ the sgene and
it migtoqk that ‘kerchief for (raw) flesh and swooped at it in,
such.a way that he pluoged his claws into the eyes of, Dabl-‘;

shlim, and both.(eyes) were blinded.
And ab that time the chlefomns of Hmduebau would

not accept: the rule of the crippled, the lame, the blind or of -

anyone in any way defective. A clamour arose among, the

army, aod the prisoner Dabishlim came with those dense

crowds to see the sight. As there was no one else there fit

to he a king, they made that very prlsoner king and placed '

that dish.and water jug on the head of the blind Dabishlim,
and they put the captive Dabishlim in the saddle (lib,
stirrup) aod took bhe other quickly to the prison cell.
Subban Allab, thab is, I meation (the name of) Gud purely,
in the twinkliog of an eye whatever the Brahman Dabishlim
had thought of for the other, that very thing was done to
him, and the meaning of this tradition ‘of the Prophet,
« Whoever diggeth a pit for his brother, he will- assuredly
fall into it himself” became mavifest.

(He, i.e, the Brahman) was confounded by bis own
action, and in place of tears he wept blood, and kept on

saying to himself this lament :—
My heart and eyes themselves have hurled,
My earthly body into fire and flood.
" Observe my state with both your eyes.
; And in your hearts pity my condition, '
Yes, this is the will of Almighty God (that He) takes
from one his kingdom and hurls him to the earth ‘and

another he preserves in the belly of a fish. Apd' iv is related

in the Jami-ul-Hikayat that the Sultan saw in a temple of
Hlndusban an idol which was stundlng in Lhe air wlt.houb,
a:chsin (nu suspend it,) No mvans uf us suspenswu oould:
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be sees, nor did it move from side to side, nor did it fall
down, When the Sultan saw that idol, he inclined his
thoughts to it and asked the wise men (saying,  What skill
is this (by) which this idol is standing ia the air.” They all
replied with one consent, “Thig idol is of iron and these
walls are'of loadstone, i.e., that stone which attracts iron
to itself, so of course that idul is stationary in the middle,
and does not move (either from side to side (or) down or
up (or) forward or backward., The Sultan gave orders (and)
they destroyed one wall (and) the idol at that very moment
fell headlong to the ground. And in that ycar when the
Sultan reached Ghazui, the Cnliph Al-Kadir-o-Billah of
Bagdad sent him a letter, in which he had written separate
titles for the Sultau and for his sons. The title of the
Sultan was ‘“ The shelter of Dignity and Islam ” aud the title

of the Amir Masud “Brilliaut Star of Dignity and of the

Beauty of the Faith,” and for the Amir Yusuf ¢ The Fore-
arms of Dignity and Strength giver of the Faith.” And
after this he had written, * Whoever the Sultan may nominate
to the kingdom in his place he will also be accepted 'by
us.” And this letter reached the Sultan in Balkh.

Aud in that very year the Sultan started to punish those.
Jats who were in the Jodi mouitains on the bank of the
river, because at the time when the Sultan was coming
(back) from Sumuath those Jats behaved disrespecbfully to
the army of the Sultan. When he arrived at Multan, he
gave orders that four thousand boats should be built; and
that io each boat threo spikes (lit. horns) of iron should be
strongly fixed, one spike at the head of the boat and the

other two at the sides, so that whatever might collide with
it should not remain uninjured. These (boats) they al|
launched into the water aud in each boat he sested twenty
men with (vheir) arrows, bows and burning glasses and
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other muaitiong of war and started off to exterminate the
- Jats, -

And when the Jats became aware (.of this ) they sent
(their) women, boys and girls to the islands, and the men
alone remained equipped for battle. Then they launched
4,000 boats, some say even 8,000, on the river, and in every
boat were seated many armed men ready for battle.

) 'When both sides meb, they fought a greate battle; but
_every boab of the Jats, which collided with the spikes of the
boats of of the Sultan’s army, went then and there to pieces
and the Jats (in it) were drowned in the river.

. To(make a long story) short, most of them were
drowned and the few that remained they made pahs under
_the sword. And the soldiers of the Sultan then pursued
their families and brought them all captive from the islands.
The Sultan conquering and victorious returned to Ghazoi.

And in the year 418 of the Hegira the Sultan depubt-ed
-the Governor of Tus .Abul-Harb-Arsalan to go to Abiward

and. Nissa, and gave him orders (saying) : * Go and extermi-
nate those Turkomans who have crossed the river Amu and
.are making dxsburbauces there, ’ _

When the Amir of Tus had goue, and had lmd .much
fightiog, he wrote a petition to the Sultan (saying): “If the
Sultan will be so kind (as to come) himself there is a hope
of success ; if not, it is very difficult to put down their dis-

- turbances. ” .

The Sultan himself set out against them aud scattered
- their band. ‘
And when the Saltau’s nobles were victorious over the

country of Iruk, and took it from the possession of the
descendunts of Boya, he was obliged to go thence to Rae.
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The g'feaf bfea.sures of Rae’ which, for’ 'matiy‘ years, bhe

. Delmi rulers had accumulated, feil into his hands withoub

fighting and without a struggle. And among the followers
of: false religions and Karamats whoever he found, and
against whoever (the charge) was proved, he slew them ; and

he gave the governments of Rae and Isfahan to Amir Masud
and he himself went to Ghazni.

And a little while after oonsumphibn, or some other
severe illness attacked the Sultan, but strenuously pretend-
ed to the people to be well and strong, aund in that state
(of health) he’ went to Balkh, When it was spring-lime
he again came to Ghazni. And his illness became very
severe there. Then in Ghazui, from that very illness, in the
year 421 of the Hegira,’on Thursday, the 23rd of Rabi-ul-

‘Akhll‘, which Pathans call ¢ the mouth of the second -

sister” (and) his age was 63 years, he made his journey
from this world (to Paradise). Now he had reigned for 85
years. . And that night while it was raining they took his

-bier and buried him in the Turquoise Palace at Ghazni,

" And Sultan Mahmud was of medium height and his
limbs were symmetrical and his face was pitted (with small
pox). And he was the first (king of Ghazoi) to assume the
title of Bultan.

And when the Sultan was about to die he gave orders
two days before (his decease) and they brought from the
ireasury and placed before him in the courtyard (of his
palace) bags of gold aud silver, and various sorts of pearls
and cloths which he had collected during a long period, and
they converted the courtyard into a small garden, and he

' gozed at thein with much regrets, and wept cryiug, alas

alds | After a short time he sent them-(back) to treasury
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‘and (in spite of his being) in such a state (of health) he
gave nothing to anyone of all these things. Now for such
acls as these the King has become (ill)-famed as a miser.

And next day he -seated himself in a horse-litter and
went to a plain (near Ghazni). He gave orders (and) sent
for all (his) horses, mules, elephants and camels, and- for a
moment he viewed the spectacle and wept with: grief ab
(th2 sight of) them and started back to his palace.

Aund it is related by Abul Hassan Ali, son of Hassan
Maimandi, that one day the Sultan asked Abu Tahir Samani
(saying) ‘“ How many costly pearls were collected by the
"dynasty of Saman ?” He said to him in reply: * In the
time of Amir Nuh Samani seven and-a-half seers of valuable
pearls were collected in the treasury.” The Sultan said:
* Praise to God that He has given me so many royal pearls
that there are even more than twenty and-a-half seers (in
my treasury).” ‘ '

And it has been said that at the end of his life 'hq one

day heard that a certain man in Nishapur owned great

wealth, The Sultangave orders (and) summoned him, and
caid to him : “ 1 have heard that you are a heretic or irre-
ligious,” The other gave reply : * In me there is no: fauls
except this much that 1 am wealthy. I possess much wealth,
"so take all my possessions, but do nob put this stigma
on me. ”

The Sultan took all (his) wealth from bhim, and gave
him a warrant in which he had written, “His principles are
those of the Musalmans. ”

Aud it is related in the Tabkat-i-Nasiri that the Sultan
was doubtful about this (verse of the) Traditions of the
Prophet, viz.,, “ The learned are the heirs of the Prophet, *’

- and (Qoubtful also) about the (truth' of)the day of : resur.
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rection and (doubtful of) about the paternity and sonship of
the Amir Sabaktagin and himself. One night he: was going
somewhere (with) a servant preceding him -with a caundle
and a golden candlestick in his hand. A pupil in a school
was learning by heart his lessons, and when he had need of
looking ab his book (lit. at it) he wculd see that paragraph

- by the lamp of a shopkeeper. The Sultan’s heart warmed

(lit. burnt) towards him (and) he presented him with that

candle and candlestick, That very night he saw in a.dream

Muhammad the ckosen one, on whom be peace a:d greeting
and he said to,him: “ Oh thou son of Amir Nasir-ud-d;n
Sabaktagin, may God give you honour inboth worlds alike as
you have bestowed upon my heirs!” All his three doubts

- were changed into belief by that saying of the Prophet, and

henceforth-he firmly believed all three matters. And in the
second year after his decease o great flood came which de-
stroyed many bulldmgs of the city, and (an) uuhmlted
(number of)) people died in it, and that dam which Umr- ben
Lais Safar had built during his reign was so carried away by
the water that no trace of it was left,. and the wise said :
*“ This terrible event has occurred owing to the death .of

the just Sultan.”
(They said this) because the Sultan’s justice had

redched such a pitch that one day a man came lamenting,

(and) the Sultan eaid to him, “ Speak what do you (wish to)
say.” The other said : “ My request is not (fiv) to be said
openly, if it be in private I will then (be able to) say it.”
The Sultan summoned him to his own private apartmeats

- and questioved him regarding the matter. That man said,
- * For a long time the Sultan’s nephew is (.in the habit of )

coming to my house and beating me with a whip. .He

~«drives;me . out and speuds the whole night -with my wife_

Al
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Aund’I have been all this time telling th e nobles and minis-
ters ; but they for fear of him conld not bring the matter to
the Sultan’s (notice), and no one had (sufficient) fear of God
to.do mejustice. So I had patieuce and looked to you (for
help). Now that I have informed you (of it) if you will do
me justice well (and good), aud if wot, I will (still) be patient
uontil the Pure God io his just:ice may right my wrongs
and take revenge for me on the tyrants (who now oppress

”

me).

The Sultan’s heart trembled at these words and he
wept e%remely and then said to bim: ¢ Why did you nob
tell me this before.” The other said : *“ For the whole of
my life this has been my design, but I nezer had an' oppor-
tunity ofseeing you. To-day God has been kind (and) I
lmve presented myself before you by many devices, other-
wxse how have poor people like me the power to bnng
themselves to such a place.”

The.Sultan said to him. * Do not tell any one that
you have chanced to iuform the Sultan of your state, and go
home without anxiety. Aud at whatever time that tyrant
may come and drive you out of your house do you come
quickly.

The uther said : “ How will any one let me (approach
you) 2” The' Sultan called his door-keepers (and) gave

them orders (saying): “ At whatever time this man may.

come, do not you forbid him (entrance), leb him (in) and let
him come to wherever 1 may be.

And besides this he said ‘to bim, secretly, “ If. they
make excuses to you, such as, ‘ the King-is asleep,” or de-
fain “you by any other pretence, come to such and such a
. place ana softly (liv. slowly) call out to me and .your. objees
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will be. attained.” Then that man (with) heart at ease wens
to his home, buat that (vther) man neither came that night
nor the next night.

‘When the third night came the Sultan’s nephew, ac-
cording to his custom, came at midnight and drove the man
from his house, and without avxiety occupied himself with
his (evil) work,

That man came running to the Sultan’s gate, but the
door-keepers said to him : “ Now the Sultan js sleeping in
his harem (and) no one cau go to him (there) ; had he been
in the public hall no one would stop you.”

The man (being left) without (any other) remedy went
to the place which the King has meutioned to him, and
softly cried out, saying: ¢ Oh kind Sultan, what are yon
doing t”" The Sultan replied to him, saying: “ Poor man,
wait, I am coming;” so he quickly went out, and.started
off with that mao, und when he entered his house what
does he see (but) his nephew lying on a bed with.the man’s
wife and a candle burniog (near) to.him,

The Sultan instantly extioguished the candle and drew
(bis) dagger, and with ib he severed- his (nephew’s) head.
Theun he said to the man: * Bring me a drop of water that
1 may drink.” When the other (had) brought the water,
and the Sultan (had) drunk it, he said to him: ‘“Poor man,
go ! sleep without anxiety.”

" The man seized the skirt of the Sultau’s (robe) and
said to him : “Iadjure you-by that God who has given you
this kingdom, that you tell me why did you extinguish
that candle, :and why did you send for water and then you
drdunk iv, and what for did you say to me ‘Go! sleep with-

eat auxiety,’.
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The Sultan sajd, to him: *1I -relessed you from the
tyranny of that tyranb and cut the head off hlm 80 of course
you become free from anxiety ; and the candle 1 extxngulsh-
ed for the reason that I said (to myself), ¢ if I see his eyes it
may be that on account of (my) love for (my) relatives I
shall not be able to strike a blow at him (and) he may
escape me,’ and I asked for water, because ou that occasion
when you told me of your condition, I took an oath, saying,
“I will neither eab vor drink until I"have freed this poor
man from the mischief of that tyrant’ ; so to-day it is a full
three nights and days that I have neither eaten nor drank
anything. And now that I have removed his misdoings,
I was very thirsty so I drank water.” In short, (though)
every one will have heard tales of the justice of kings, but
such a deed (as this) no (other) king has probably ever done.

Awnd io the history of Binai Geti it is related that when
the Sultan went to Khorasan, it crossed his ' mind that he
would go and pay a visit to Sheikh Abul Hassan Kharkani ;
but he thought again that (as) he had come this time for
worldly affuirs there, to see him (when) in prosecution of
snother work is not; seemly, - and that it would be better $o
come again to (see) him. (Sp) on that occasion he returped
from Khorasan and went to Hindustan. . And when he again
came to Gbazni he decided. of gaining a future reward by
seeing the Sheikh (and) started for Kharkan. When he ar-
rived he sent a man to the Sheikh Sahib.{and) said to him :
‘¢ Say to him that the Sultan has corce to Kharkan in order
to see you, 8o if you algo will be so kind. as to come out of
your place of worship. and come to the Durbar, iv will be
very good (of you).” And he (aiso) said ta the man: “If
liq will not come, repeat this verse to him, ¢ Oh! pepgle,
who bave (been) brought (to) the faith (of Islam), obey the
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orders of God and obey the orders of (His) Prophet and of
the rulers (lit. the masters of orders) who may be among you

" When the messenger conveyed th ese words to him, the
Sheikh Sahib said to him: “ I am nob going.” Then the
messenger read out to him that verse.

The Sheikh said to him : “ Acocept my excuses and say
to the Sultan that I am so occupied in obedience to the orders
of God that ] am ashamed at (not being able to carry out)
the orders of the Prophet and never have leisure to (obey)
the orders of the ruler. ”

Tue messenger went back and told the Sultan the state
(of the case). The Suliau’'s heart softened (towards the
Sheikh and) he said : “ Rise, let us go. He is not the sort
of mau that we thought,” Then he dressed Ayaz in his
own clothes and dressed up the slave-girls in boys’ clothes,
aud he as a test took the place of Ayaz and put Ayaz in bis
own place (and) went to the Sheikh Sahib’s hut, When
shey all entered the hut, and said ¢ Peace beupon you ! ” the
Sheikh said, “And upon you peace; ” but he did not rise
from his place, and he turned his face to the King (and)
did not even look in the direction of Ayaz, The Sultan
said to him : * Heis the King, but you did not rise to do
bim houour.” The Sheikh Sahib said: “ Thisis alla
trap, but I am not its bird. Do you come forward since
God has made all these stand before you! ”

The Sultan seated hxmself and said to him: ‘ Saya
few words to me. ‘ '

The Sheikh said to him : * Turn out the not unlawful
ones [that is, those women that are not unlawful (in marri-
age for men]. The Sultan. made a sign (and) the slave-girls
weut out. Then he said to the Shelkh Tell me some sboty
about Bayazid Bistami.
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The Sheikh said, Bayazid said (once), - “ Whoever saw
The Sultan said : «The Prophet, on whom be peace,

was (even) greater in dignity than Bayazid and Abu Jaha
used to see him there, how did he remain (so0) unfortunate,

'The Sheikh said to him: “ Oh! Mahmud, think. No

_one saw Muhammad, on whom be peace and greeting ! except

the Four Friends and his disciples, and the proof of this
assertion is this saying of God Almighty, ‘And thou art
looking at them who gaze on thee and they do not see, ”

The Sultan was very pleased, and said to him: “ Give

me advice, ”

The Sheikh said : * Choose four things: first, abstinence;
second, prayer in the mosque; third, generosity ;. fourth,
love for (your) people. ”

Then he asked him for (his) blessmg, and he said,
“ I repeat this prayer after each of my five (daily) prayets,
¢ Oh God ! pardon the faithful men and women.’ ”

The Sultan said : “ Make a special prayer for me. ” The

Sheikh said : * Akibat Mahmud Bad, that is may thiy
end be laudable. ”

The Sultan placed a bag of gold pieces before 'hirm.

The Sheikh brought out -for him a cake -of ‘barjey
(meal) and told the Sultan to eat it. . Ths Sultan began to

- chew a piece of that cake in his mouth, but it would not pass

(down and) stuck in his throat.

The Sheikh said to him : “ Does this morsel (of cake)
stick (in your throat) and nob pass (down), eh 2" ‘

‘The Sultan said, * Yes. *
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The Shenkh‘ said : «'In bhe same way also bhese gold

pieces stick (in my threat). Take them, ‘take them away. '

I have divorced (myself from) them. ”

The Sultan said to him : “ Give me some (holy i‘elic
as a) charm. ”

The Sheikh gave him his own shirt. of which the abory )

has been told in the (narrative of the) fight with Dabishlim
aond Pramdev. And it is related in the Jaml ul-Hikayab
that ab'the time when the Sultan came to the Sheikh, be
said to him: *“ There were many works (to be done) in
Khoi‘asan, but' I have come from QGhazoi solely to have an
interview with you,” '

The Sheikh snid : '« As you have come : from Ghazul bp |

see me, what wonder is it that people should wish to come

. from Mecca to see you, and (that they should). come ?.”

Praise to God! The Sultan is » wonderfully great man

since bhelkh Abul Hassan Kharkani has thus epoken in his,

favour. i

Ih is related in the Rozat-u s-Safa that one day the
Snltan wag sitting in bis palace and wag looking from side
to side (when) he saw a man who bad three cocks with him
and was making signs to the Sultao. The Sultan sent for
him, and said to him : Whah have you' to say, and what
are you making those signs for 2”

He said, * Sire, I am a gambler. I had’ made you my
partaer. behind your back (and) now I bave won these
three.cocks for you. ” : -

_The Sultan gave some one an order (and) he took those

(cocks) from him.
* Anovher day he brought him two (and) anobher day

egain brought three,
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Oa the fourth day he stood érmpéy:handed and dorrow-
ful below the Sultan’s palace, (and) when the Sultan locked
ab him, he said:  Be it well (with bhee), why is my partnor
dejected ? ' '

The man said : “I was gambliog for the Sultan and
myself, and I have lost one thousand gold pieces. Now the
opponents have come and ask the for it. "

The Sultan gave an orden, saying: * Give him five
hundred gold pieces, and tell him that next time if I am
not preseat he should nob associate me with himself (in his

- gambling). ”

And it is related i the Habxb-us-Styar that the first
minister of the Sultan was Abul-Abbas Fasil, son of, Abmad
Asfaraini.- At first he was a writer to Kiog Faik. Then
when bis reign had passed, be became (& servant) of the

Amir Sabaktagin and got the rank of minister, Then when

the Sultan became King he also made him a’ minister ; but
as Abul Abbas did not know the language of the Arabs, he
orderd that the correspondence of his office should be
written in the Persian language ; but when Kbwaja Ahmad
Maimandi became minister, he again started -(the use of)
the Arabic lauguage.. Aud this Abul Abbas understood (all)
the affairs of State extremely well, and when he had been a

mivister for ten years he was turned out of that appoint- -

meat. And from the sayings of some historians ib appears
that the Sultan used to collect large numbers of beautiful
slaves, and Abul Abbas had also this taste; and on one occa-
sion some one said to Abul Abbas: “In Turkestan there is
a handsome slave, if one were to send for him it is possible

"(to procure him), and there is no ‘difficalty in- (arranging

for) his coming. *
’Abut ‘Abbas gent a man afrer him and gent t‘cnt bim. -

Page 72,



Page 78,

(52,

Wh’en the Sultan learnt (of this) he at once sent a. man
to him and demanded the slave from him. Abyl Abhas

‘denied (that he had him), but the Sultan made some pre-

tence (and) went suddenly to Abul Abbas’s house.
Abul Abbas was (busily) occupied in serving the Sulban

“and pleasing his heart, (when) in the midst of (their con-

versation) the slave-boy made his appearance., The Sultan
on account of his having denied (the presence of the boy) -
became very angry (and) gave orders (saying) : * Seize him

- and. plunder his property. ** Then he quickly.started him off

for Hindustan, and some of the nobles, by (reason of their)

- covetousness for his money, put him to such tortures that

he died there. And after him Ahmad, son of Hassan Mai-
mandi, became minister, and this Abmad had sucked the
same breast as the Sultan (i.c., was his foster-brother) and
was (his companion) in his lessons. And Hassan Maimandi
was in the tims of Amir Sabaktagin Governor of Busb.
There some embezzlement was proved agsiost him (and)
by order of Amir Sabaktagin they executed bim. And
thab (statement) which is commonly spoken of among the
people that Hassan Maimandi was mioister to the Sultan,
is greatly mistaken and inaccurate,

And Ahmad, soo of Hassan, was & ﬁne penman and a
far-seeing (man) At first be used (only) to be employed in

“work connected with writing and papers. Then gradually

the Sultan advaoced him in raek, until he made him chief
of (his) army. Then after some time the coutrol of the
cities of Khorasan also came into his hands, and when Abul

- Abbag’s affairs got into (a) bad (state), he became minister
.in his place. For eighteen years he got on well. Thena

party of the nobles, such as Altun Tash and Amir Ali, and’
others like thewm, got up (evil) reports behind his bnok to’



( )
siich an extent thab they ‘turned the King’s heart agains
him, aud he expelled him from the mininstry. And he en-
trusted him toa mannamed Bahram, (and). said to bim,
¢ Take this (man) away, and there is a man in the valley.of
Kashmere called Jangi, entrust him to that man in order
that he may confine him in a fort (known) as Kalinjar (lit.
of Kalinjar).” Thirteen years he was - prisoner in that fort,

© until in the time of Sultan Masud he- was released. He

-2

again obtained the rank of ministar and died in the year
424 (of the Hegira), and the’ Sultan after some time wmade
Abmad Hussan, son of Mikal, who was very clever and
extremely far seeing, (his) minister. And until the Sultan’s
death it was bis destiny (to hold) that post.

And the masters of history have related an anecdote
of Ahmad Hussan that at that time when Sultan Mabmud
was engaged in crushing Abu Ali Samjuri during the reign
of Amir Sabaktagin, he beard in a certain place that there
was & mendicant there who was famous for (his) many
miracles and devotion. And the people call him Zahid Ahu
Posh, that is, the renonucer of the world and the wearer
of aotelope skin. And the Sultan was very fond of mendi-
csuts, and Ahmad Hussan used to deny (the truth of) their
(miraculous) works. So the Sultan said to him: “ You do
not believe in these people, but follow my mclmatlon (and)
let us.go (to him).” So they both went and had an interview
with the recluse.

The mendicant spoke words like the saints (of old and)
the Sultan’s belief in him iocreased, (and) he said to bim :
* Do you require any cash or ( other ) things that we ' may
present it to you ? ¥ The wendicant raised his hand to the
air and held qut his first full of gold to the Sultan, and said
to him: “He who can obtaiu pure gold from the invisible

‘garl
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troaaury (of heaven), what need .has he of (the aid of) any
ove else.”

* When the Sultan saw this deed he was firmly convinced
thut it was (indeed) a miracle.

' Then the Sultan gave that gold to Ahmad Hussan and
when Ahmad Hussan had looked at it (he saw that) the
seal of Abu Ali Samjuri was stamped upon (each piece of)it.

When they arose from the company of the recluse, the
Sultan said to Ahmad Hussan, “ Did you see this miracle
or not.” He in reply made representation (saying):* I am
ot a disbeliever in the miracles of the saints, but -this does
not seem proper to me that the Sultan should war with
people whose seal isin circulation even in heaven.” The
Sultan said: “Make me to understand the matter us to how
this (can) be,” The other showed him the coins, and his
glance fell on the ioscription “Abu Ali Semjuri”; he was pus
to shame and confusion. But the words of Abmad Hussan
are out of place, because such acts (as this) have by God’s
drder been done repeatedly at the hands of saiuts.

Agaio, when Sultan Masud became king, he said to
Ahmad Hussan, « when you were coming (back) from
Mecca, the Noble, you pub on a robe of honour ( given you
by the hand) of the king of Egypt, and (yet) he was a heretic,
So you also have became Batini,” that is, outwardly a Musal-
man (and) inwardly a heathen. And on this pretence he
executed bim in Balkh, Aud (of) famons poets there were
mauy in the Sultan’s time; for instance, (there were) Asayiri
and Firdausi, and Minochahir and 'Ansari, and ’Asjadi and
Dakiki, and Farrukhi; others like them also used to be
present at his assembly.
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This book was completed on Monday the
fifteenth of  the month of ) the Later Sister in the
year, 1289 of the Hegira. It has been translated
from that book of which the name . is. Gulshan--
Ibrahimi, and (which) is famous as the History of
Ferishta, and in the year 1015 of the Hegira
Mahomed Kasim Astarabadi composed it.

Oh! Ahmad (even) if your life be for & thousand years,
At last there will be separation from (your) friends.

Except God are doomed to destruction,
Be they relatives or friends or strangers.

Translated at Lundi Kotal by Captain Roos-Eeppel and Qusi
Abdul Ghani Kban, 10th June, 1901.






